
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

Scrutiny 
Committee

Councillor J S Hawkes (Chairman)
Councillor M J Davis (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor A Bardoe Councillor M A Maddison
Councillor J Burrell Councillor T A Maddison
Councillor R M Currans Councillor Mrs J A Ozog
Councillor P Cutler Councillor J M Ozog
Councillor J A Hayes Councillor D J Reynolds
Councillor S R Jarnell Councillor A S Sandhu MBE
Councillor Mrs Maria B Kelly Councillor Mrs R F Storey
Councillor C S McLean

A meeting of the above Committee will be held on

Tuesday 23 May 2017

at 7 pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford

Managing Director
15 May 2017



This page is intentionally left blank



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
AGENDA

Tuesday 23 May 2017

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 

To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of any Grant(s) of Dispensation.

3. Confirmation of the Minutes of the meeting held on 7 February 
2017 

(Pages 1 - 
10)

4. Urgent Items 

The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are 
any urgent items and their position on the agenda. 

5. To consider references from other Committees (IF ANY) 

There are no references from other Committees at present.

6. Chairman's Update 

7. Regulation 9 Notice (Pages 11 
- 14)

To note the contents of the Regulation 9 Notice for the period 18 April 
2017 to 31 August 2017. 

8. Princes Park  - Annual Update (Pages 15 
- 24)

9. Refurbishment of Fairfield Pool and Leisure Centre [Draw-Down] (Pages 25 
- 38)

To note the attached report at Appendix A from ‘Places for People’ 
(PfP) concerning their first year of operation of the rebuilt Fairfield 
Leisure & Pool facility, covering the period April 2016 to March 2017 
and comment accordingly.



10. Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2016-17 (Pages 39 
- 88)

To consider the Committee’s Annual Report for 2016-17 (attached as 
Appendix A to the report) for approval and submission to the General 
Assembly of the Council.

11. Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2017-18 (Pages 89 
- 92)

To consider the Committee’s Work Programme for the 2017-18 
municipal cycle as provisionally set out in the draft Work Plan 
(attached as Appendix A to the report). 



1

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Scrutiny Committee held on Tuesday 7 February 
2017 at 7.00 pm.

PRESENT: Councillor J S Hawkes (Chairman)
Councillor M J Davis (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor A Bardoe
Councillor J Burrell
Councillor Mrs. R M Currans
Councillor P Cutler
Councillor S R Jarnell
Councillor Mrs. M B Kelly
Councillor M A Maddison
Councillor C S McLean
Councillor Mrs. J A Ozog
Councillor J M Ozog
Councillor D J Reynolds
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE
Councillor Mrs. R F Storey

ABSENT: Councillor J A Hayes
Councillor T A Maddison

Dartford Borough Council Officers:-

Stephen Jefferson – Leisure & Communities Officer
David Hook – Committee Co-ordinator (Member 

Services)

PRESENT TO RESPOND TO ISSUES RAISED BY THE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE:

Mr Chris Glover – Orchard Theatre Director
Mr Andy Creba – Arriva Area General Manager
Mr Michael Jennings – Arriva Commercial Manager, Kent
Phil Lightowler – Head of Service, KCC Transport
Dan Bruce – Senior Development & Infrastructure 

Officer, KCC Transport

CABINET MEMBERS: Cllr. Mrs P A Thurlow, Portfolio Holder for Events, 
Leisure & Heritage

22. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillor J A Hayes, Cllr. 
T A Maddison [Sub. Cllr. M A Maddison] and the Cabinet Portfolio Holder for 
Transport and Infrastructure.



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 7 FEBRUARY 2017

2

The Chairman welcomed Mr Chris Glover, Orchard Theatre Director HQ 
Theatres Ltd. together with the Leisure & Communities Officer, to aid 
Members in their consideration of the 2015-16 Orchard Theatre Accounts 
[Item 10].

The Chairman also welcomed Michael Jennings and Andy Creba from the 
Arriva Bus Company and Dan Bruce and Phil Lightowler from KCC Transport 
for the discussion of Fastrack [Item 11]. 

23. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.

24. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 15 
NOVEMBER 2016 

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the meeting held on 15 November 2016 be confirmed.

25. URGENT ITEMS 

The Chairman announced that there were no urgent items for consideration.

26. TO CONSIDER REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES (IF ANY) 

The Chairman confirmed that, as appeared to be the custom, there were no 
references from other Committees for Scrutiny to consider. He encouraged 
Members to refer topics for scrutiny from their duties on other Committees, 
whenever this was appropriate.

27. SPECIAL URGENCY PROVISIONS RELATING TO KEY DECISIONS 

The Chairman advised Members that he had counter-signed the Special 
Urgency Regulation 11 Agreement for the ‘Sale of Land at Stone Lodge to 
The Secretary of State for the Department of Communities and Local 
Government’; in his role as Chairman of the Scrutiny Committee and that his 
action was being reported to the Committee in accordance with Standing 
Order 54(7)(c).  

RESOLVED:

1. That Members noted the details of the report.

28. REGULATION 9 NOTICE 

The Chairman encouraged Members of all political Groups represented on the 
Committee to Draw-Down for scrutiny any items on the attached Regulation 9 
Notice, either prior to or following consideration by Cabinet. 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 7 FEBRUARY 2017

3

The Vice-Chairman enquired whether Cabinet would be considering the 
outcome of the Public Consultation exercise by Highways England, on their 
proposals to make improvements to the A2 Bean and Ebbsfleet Junction. He 
noted that the topic was not listed on the current Regulation 9 Notice.

The Committee Co-ordinator undertook to confirm this point for Members.

 
RESOLVED: 

1. That the contents of the Regulation 9 Notice for the period 17 January 
2017 to 31 May 2017 be noted as submitted in the agenda papers.

29. GENERAL EXCEPTION PROVISIONS RELATING TO KEY DECISIONS 

The Chairman advised Members that he had counter-signed the General 
Exception Regulation 10 Notice in respect of ‘Dartford Town Centre Transport 
and Public Realm Improvements’; in his role as Chairman of the Scrutiny 
Committee and that this action was being reported to the Committee under 
Standing Order 54(6)(e). He stressed that the policy decision itself, had been 
taken solely by Cabinet.

RESOLVED:

1. That Members noted the report.

30. ORCHARD THEATRE ACCOUNTS 2015-16 FINANCIAL YEAR 

The Chairman renewed his welcome to Chris Glover and invited the Theatre 
Director to present the annual accounts for The Orchard for the financial year 
ended 31 March 2016.

The Theatre Director advised Members that profits for The Orchard had 
increased by some £80K in the period under review in comparison to the 
previous cycle and that the Council’s share of that profit [10% nett] had 
increased on a pro-rata basis. In response to specific questions from 
Members he confirmed that:

 The Orchard was operating at 62% audience capacity (national 
average) and it was hoped that, on current evidence, profits for the 
2016-17 financial cycle could improve on those presented for 2015-16;

 A further growth in profits for The Orchard in 2017-18 was the 
management objective, but difficult to predict. Profit margins were 
product-led and the shows currently touring were not deemed as 
strong as e.g. ‘Dirty Dancing’ and ‘Chicago’; profit growth in 2017-18 
would inevitably reflect the strength of product that management could 
secure for Orchard audiences;



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 7 FEBRUARY 2017

4

 HQ Theatres did ‘bench-mark’ profits for theatres within the Group by 
region, but direct comparisons were often difficult given the wide 
variance in theatre audience capacity e.g. Southend 1600 but only 600 
in Swindon.

The Chairman thanked the Theatre Director for responding to Members 
questions and noted the very positive picture of increasing revenue and profit 
margins (including by extension for the Council) from the management of The 
Orchard by HQ Theatres’ Ltd.

A Member suggested that future consideration of The Orchard’s Accounts be 
transferred from the Scrutiny Committee to the Audit Board, as a more 
appropriate fiscal body, following Annual Council [10 May 2017].

The Committee Co-ordinator [with the permission of the Chairman] advised 
Members that the annual accounts for The Orchard Theatre represented an 
integral part of the annual performance report for the Theatre, albeit that the 
accounts were presented separately and in arrears. On that basis, 
consideration of both documents should therefore remain with the Scrutiny 
Committee. He reminded Members of the background to the separate 
presentation of performance and accounts reports for The Orchard, which 
dated back to 2009. It was the policy of HQ Theatres Ltd. that the annual 
accounts for all theatres managed by the Group be completed, before details 
of accounts for individual theatres were released for examination.

The Orchard Theatre Director confirmed his company’s policy for Members   
in this regard.  

The Vice-Chairman of the Audit Board [attending as a Member of Scrutiny] 
advised the Committee that it would not be appropriate for the Board to 
become the responsible body to consider the annual accounts for The 
Orchard. The role of the Board was to ensure that the Council had adequate 
checks and balances in place to safeguard its internal accounting systems. 
The annual accounts for The Orchard were an external document prepared by 
a commercial company [HQ Theatres Ltd] and as such, did not fall within the 
purview of the Audit Board. He added that the principal role of the Committee 
in scrutinising the annual accounts for The Orchard was to determine whether 
the Council continued to obtain value for money (VfM) through its commercial 
contract with HQ Theatres Ltd. This was a valid scrutiny role and should 
continue with the Committee.

The Chairman noted the advice that had been given to Members in response 
to the Lead Member’s proposal, but asked that the Committee Co-ordinator 
confirm that guidance with senior management, and that the outcome be 
reported to Members in due course. 

RESOLVED:



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 7 FEBRUARY 2017

5

1. That the Directors’ Report and Financial Statements for the Year ended 
31 March 2016 for the Orchard Theatre Dartford Limited, as presented 
in the Agenda papers, be noted.

31. FASTRACK RELIABILITY ISSUES: UPDATE FROM ARRIVA AND KCC 
TRANSPORT REPRESENTATIVES 

The Chairman renewed his welcome to his Arriva and KCC guests and 
confirmed that all Members had received copies of the Arriva data recording 
Fastrack passenger numbers, punctuality and ‘Lost Mileage’ figures for both A 
and B services, for the years 2015 and 2016. 

In the absence of a formal report, the Chairman reminded Members that the 
Committee had previously scrutinised the Fastrack services to the Borough in 
November 2015 [Min. No. 20 refers] when representatives from Arriva, KCC 
Transport and Highways England had attended Scrutiny proceedings to 
respond to Members concerns over Fastrack reliability issues. Arriva 
representatives and KCC Officers had responded to an invitation to update 
Members.

The Arriva Commercial Manager, Michael Jennings, expanded on the data he 
had provided to the Committee in advance of the meeting. He gave the 
following responses to Members specific questions regarding data, routes, 
Dartford Tunnel closures, roadworks and traffic lights/signals:

 Since November 2015 performance and passenger numbers had 
improved on Arriva’s 480 and 490 routes from Dartford to Gravesend 
and between Bluewater and Gravesend respectively, with a 
corresponding drop in passenger numbers using Fastrack B;

 The Ebbsfleet-Bluewater service was not the fastest available, but it 
carried the most passengers from a greater number of locations;

 Existing Arriva data did not enable the company to identify a ‘worst 
month’ for performance, nor correlate the impact that closures to the 
Dartford tunnel had on Fastrack in specific terms. Highways England 
data on Tunnel closures would be sought and relayed to the 
Committee [via Member Services];

 ‘Lost Mileage’ figures for Fastrack B had increased since November 
2015 but LM figures for Fastrack A had dropped slightly; the data 
reflected common problems being experienced by bus operators 
across SE England [not just Arriva] in terms of traffic congestion and 
increased road usage - passengers reverting to commuting by car;

 ‘Start Point’ data indicated that 9 out of 10 Fastrack services started on 
time, but punctuality figures fell by the ‘Mid-Point’ for both routes with B 
the least punctual;

 Reliable ‘End Point’ data for both routes was not available at present, 
due to a culture amongst Arriva drivers of disregarding the ‘7 minute 
recovery’ period between outward and return journeys, especially when 
a service was running ‘late’. Arriva hoped to provide reliable ‘End Point’ 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 7 FEBRUARY 2017

6

data in the future by enforcing the ‘7 Minute Recovery’ procedure with 
their drivers;

 Arriva did not terminate late running services unless the projected 
completion time for the outward journey indicated that the next 
scheduled service would not start on time;

 Arriva and KCC now held ‘Punctuality & Improvement Partnership’ 
meetings to address roadwork issues, with Arriva providing input and 
feedback to both KCC and directly to individual contractors, as and 
when ongoing roadworks impacted on Arriva’s routes.

Dan Bruce, Senior Development & Infrastructure Officer, KCC Transport 
confirmed the expanded role Arriva now played in the planning and execution 
of roadworks. Fastrack services were now given priority by KCC and the 
impact of proposed roadworks mitigated wherever possible. Arriva now had 
an input into the Permit Scheme for granting individual works and also 
contributed to problem solving, including directly with contractors, when 
ongoing roadworks impacted on Arriva services and routes.

He advised that in addition to the expanded role afforded to Arriva, KCC had 
appointed a new Fastrack Development Manager in 2016, to take forward the 
future growth of Fastrack in line with housing developments in the Kent 
Thameside area. Work had also progressed with regard to Fastrack signalling 
and traffic light issues; with some £44K recently commissioned for further 
improvements by 31 March 2017; including the introduction of new magnetic 
signalling measures. At present the ITS system embedded in the ticket 
machines on Fastrack buses sent a signal to traffic lights as the buses 
approached. The new magnetic measures would send a second signal to 
traffic lights (when the buses were closer) to ensure that the Fastrack vehicles 
retained the green light initially allocated in response to the ITS signal. 

The Chairman thanked Arriva and KCC representatives for their contributions 
to the wide-ranging discussion with Members. However, he saw no evidence 
that the various measures implemented by Arriva and KCC in 2016 had 
worked, in terms of improving the Fastrack service. Indeed, the Arriva data 
supplied for Fastrack A and B performance for 2016 in comparison to 2015 
appeared to suggest that the correct solutions to improve Fastrack reliability 
had not yet been found. He asked what testing of the Fastrack system had 
been undertaken, against the improvements that had been applied.

The Arriva Commercial Manager advised Members that general traffic 
congestion and closures to the Dartford Tunnel in particular, were the major 
factors impacting on the efficiency of the Fastrack service. Roadworks were 
the third principal factor impacting on Fastrack reliability, but decreasingly so, 
given improved working practices with KCC. Tunnel closures in particular 
impacted hugely on Fastrack services, particularly where they entered the 
Borough. Given this backdrop of Tunnel closures and general increases in 
traffic congestion, it was difficult for Arriva and KCC to gauge what their new 
measures and working practices had achieved in terms of increased reliability 
for Fastrack. 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 7 FEBRUARY 2017

7

In response to further expressions of concern from the Chairman; the 
Commercial Manager said that Arriva was committed to providing an effective 
Fastrack service for Dartford and was contributing data to Highways England 
in an effort to solve ongoing reliability issues. Arriva was also actively 
contributing to KCC and Highways England measures for improved traffic light 
provision and junction layouts in Dartford, in addition to feeding into EDC’s 
Master Transport Plan for the extension of the current Fastrack provision to 
service the Garden City project. However, daily fluctuations in traffic 
conditions, especially Tunnel closures, severely distorted Arriva’s monthly 
data gathering and made the identification of valid solutions and measures 
difficult to identify and confirm.

Arriva’s Area General Manager assured Members that the company were fully 
committed to improving the Fastrack service provision for Dartford and taking 
every measure they could identify to do so, in conjunction with KCC and 
Highways England. However, only a dedicated Fastrack bus route throughout 
the Borough could guarantee a 90% effective service delivery. A dedicated 
route for Fastrack lay outside the remit of both Arriva and KCC, only 
Highways England could sanction such a significant measure. 

The Chairman expressed his concern that the continued poor performance of 
Fastrack [especially Fastrack B] represented a real risk to and failure of a key 
Council policy - to connect the Borough and get residents out of cars. He 
expressed further specific concern over developers using the existing 
Fastrack provision as an excuse for under-provision of residential parking in 
their development schemes. He cited The Bridge and Ingress Park as prime 
examples of developments with insufficient parking [for modern multi-car 
families].

The Head of Service, KCC Transport sought to re-assure the Chairman and 
Members. He advised that:

 KCC retained its policy aspirations for Fastrack;
 Fastrack remained only 50% developed for a variety of reasons but 

was a project that would be completed;
 The Garden City project represented a major challenge for the 

increased development of Fastrack,  with the Boroughs of Dartford and 
Gravesham effectively ‘growing-together’ around the planned Garden 
City;

 KCC was ‘ramping-up’ it’s Fastrack operation with a new development 
officer for the service now embedded in EDC to assist with the 
development of Fastrack for the Garden City project;

 An agreed concept for Fastrack for the next 5 years for Dartford,  
Gravesham and the Garden City project would be crucial;

 Discussions with all stakeholders over delivery mechanisms were 
advancing and it was hoped that the key principals for an enhanced 
Fastrack service would be agreed in the next 6 months.



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 7 FEBRUARY 2017

8

In addition to concerns over policy issues, Members also expressed specific 
concerns over several operational aspects of the present Fastrack service 
including: timetabling, poor passenger communication, ticket cost, punctuality, 
the Ingress Park service and the poor Bluewater service, including the ‘lost 
bus’s’ syndrome. 

In response, the Arriva Commercial and Area General Managers confirmed 
that Arriva had:

 Reviewed the Fastrack timetables in September 2016 and would 
undertake a further review in September 2017;

 Supplied Highways England with Fastrack data on a journey by journey 
basis to help identify the correlation between individual closures to the 
Dartford tunnel and the impact on Fastrack punctuality;

 Increased feedback to passengers via social media and the Fastrack 
App (for passenger feed-back to Arriva), piggy-backed local radio 
stations and Bluewater Management announcements with Fastrack 
service updates;

 Fed into the discussions between KCC / EDC and Gravesham Council 
over the difficulties that the Fastrack service continued to experience;

 Held discussions with KCC and the contractor [Crest/Nicolson] over the 
need to ‘adopt’ the road in the Ingress Park development that will carry 
the Fastrack service out onto the London Road, rather than the current 
‘turn-around’ arrangement for Fastrack with-in Ingress Park.

With specific regard to Arriva’s Bluewater service, the Commercial Manager 
advised that Arriva buses were tracked via satellite every 20 seconds, in real 
time, using a GPS system embedded in the ticket machine of each bus. 
Information was relayed on a predictive basis via Arriva Control to info 
screens at bus stops. The info did not allow for traffic jams and congestion, 
GPS blind-spots or if a bus broke down and subsequently ‘disappeared’ from 
info screens as a consequence. If customers fed-back their concerns and 
specific experiences to Arriva, the company would ask KCC Transport to 
investigate. Finally, he noted that despite Members’ concerns, Fastrack 
continued to carry some 2.5 million passengers annually. 

Dan Bruce (KCC Transport) advised that new info screens had been provided 
by the County authority at Fastrack bus tops in the preceding 12 months and 
he offered to have KCC’s expert on GPS inform Members in greater detail on 
how the system worked in practice and the difficulties that could be 
encountered. 
 
He added, with regard to the Fastrack provision for Ingress Park; that both 
KCC and Arriva had been in discussions with the developer Crest / Nicolson 
to have the designated exit road for the Fastrack service ‘adopted’. 
Agreement had been reached between all parties in recent weeks regarding 
the traffic requirements to be met for the left hand turn (LHT) from Manor Way 
into London Road. However, agreement over specific bus stop locations on 
the ‘unadopted’ road was still outstanding. KCC and Arriva would continue to 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 7 FEBRUARY 2017

9

push the developer heavily to complete the outstanding planning issues and 
have the road ‘adopted’ as soon as possible and allow the Fastrack service to 
Ingress Park to function as proposed in the original planning application. Any 
additional pressure Dartford Members and Planning Officers could apply to 
the developers to complete the process would be appreciated.

The Chairman noted the further responses from KCC and Arriva 
representatives, but retained his concerns regarding Fastrack and the way 
forward for the Service. He noted that despite the relative longevity of 
Fastrack, only some 50% of its policy objectives had been achieved to date 
and that the Service could not push on to its full potential without serious and 
increased input from the major stakeholders KCC, Arriva and both Dartford 
and Gravesham Councils. His perception was that EDC were playing on the 
tension between Fastrack provision and resident parking provision from 
developers in new housing developments e.g. The Bridge and Ingress Park. 
There was no evidence [from those developments] that bus use was 
increasing and car use decreasing in Dartford. Yet EDC were basing their 
resident parking provision for the Garden City project on an improved and 
expanded Fastrack service. Evidence of an improved Fastrack provision was 
therefore urgently required; both to properly inform the planning of the Garden 
City project and to improve the present Fastrack provision to both Boroughs. 
In particular, funding needed to be identified to expand Fastrack in the next 3-
4 years to make it fit for an expanded purpose and ensure the future of the 
Garden City project, as presently envisaged by EDC.

The Head of Service, KCC Transport advised Members that Fastrack was a 
KCC supported Service on a NIL revenue basis. KCC would continue to 
support the Service (and Arriva as the operator until mid- 2019). The 
Ebbsfleet development project was fluid in nature and KCC would continue to 
take forward discussions with EDC on that basis over the specifics of the 
Garden City project. He agreed that the Project would not work without an 
improved Fastrack provision and that work with all stakeholders 
KCC/DBC/GBC needed to be ramped-up to achieve a positive outcome. 
Expansion of Fastrack would be adequately funded and placed at the 
forefront of the development of the Garden City project with EDC. 

He added, in specific response to the Chairman over the role to be played by 
Dartford Council in the Garden City project; that KCC would first agree their 
own proposals internally, before taking those proposals forward with EDC. 
Impute from Dartford and Gravesham Councils would then be added to the bi-
lateral process between KCC and EDC going forward. The Leader of KCC 
and all relevant levels within the County authority were aware of the strategic 
importance of Fastrack to both Boroughs and the success of the Garden City 
project. He conceded that opportunities to develop Fastrack in the past 2 
years had been missed, but KCC were committed to pushing forward now.

The Chairman thanked his KCC and Arriva guests for updating Members on 
the Fastrack provision to Dartford and the mooted expansion to the present 
Services to include the needs of the Garden City project.



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 7 FEBRUARY 2017

10

With regard to the latter point, he confirmed his intention to invite the interim 
CEO of EDC, Paul Spooner, to attend the Committee’s proceedings in April to 
update Members on the contents of EDC’s Master Transport Plan.

32. REVIEW COMMITTEE WORK PLAN FOR THE REMAINDER OF 2016-17 

The Chairman noted the contents of the Work Plan proposed for the next 
meeting of the Committee on 25 April. The EDC presentation on their Master 
Transport Plan for the Garden City project would be particularly relevant and 
timely given the Committee’s discussion on Fastrack earlier that evening [Min. 
No. 31 refers]. 

He encouraged Members of all Groups represented on the Committee to re-
visit Cabinet decisions and draw-down topics for update and discussion as 
appropriate. Topics that he and his Group had identified for further discussion 
by the Committee in the forthcoming 2017-18 municipal cycle included:

 A Review of the Council’s Housing Stock and HRA [July 2014];
 A Review of the Council’s litter contract arrangements[Nov. 2015];
 Waste & Re-cycling Update [Sept. 2016]

RESOLVED:

1. That the Committee Work Plan for the remainder of the 2016-17 
municipal cycle as published in the Agenda papers be noted;

2. That Members consider further topics for inclusion in the Committee’s 
Work Programme for the forthcoming 2017-18 municipal cycle 
including those listed above.

The meeting closed at 8.50 pm

Councillor J S Hawkes
CHAIRMAN



18 April 2017 - 31 August 2017

1 of 3

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

LIST OF FORTHCOMING KEY DECISIONS – REGULATION 9 NOTICE

This document lists all key decisions due  to be taken  in the forthcoming 4 months in accordance with the Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meeting and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. It also lists and contains particulars of 
any items where it is likely that the public will be excluded because consideration of the matter in public would disclose confidential of 
exempt information. The reasons for going into closed session are given in each case. An updated list will be published monthly.

All decisions are made by Cabinet collectively.

Cabinet Members:

Councillor J A Kite, MBE, Portfolio: Leader & Overall Strategy
Councillor C J Shippam, Portfolio: Deputy Leader, Strategic Service Provision & Town Centre
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE, Portfolio: Community Development
Councillor P F Coleman, Portfolio: Front Line Services, Customer Champion & Housing
Councillor K M Kelly, Portfolio: Transport and Infrastructure
Councillor A R Lloyd, Portfolio: Strategic Council Finances & Major Capital Projects
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow, Portfolio: Events, Leisure & Heritage

All of the reports contained in this list, where open to the public, will be published on the Council’s website www.dartford.gov.uk at least 5 
clear days before the day of the meeting or, if later, whenever they become available. All reports provide details of any background 
documents which have been relied upon to a material degree during production of the report, or relied upon when formulating 
recommendations or options for decision. Hard copies or extracts from these reports can be obtained on request by emailing 
memberservices@dartford.gov.uk.

This notice supersedes all previous notices.

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/
mailto:memberservices@dartford.gov.uk


2 of 3

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified)

Primary Authority - Support for 
Local Businesses - Environmental 
Health Partnership

This report considers an opportunity 
to support local businesses using the 
“Primary Authority” (PA) Scheme by 
means of a partnership approach 
involving the Environmental Health 
Partnership and Kent Trading 
Standards.

Cabinet
25 May 2017

Annie Sargent, Environmental 
Health Manager
Tel: 01322 343085
annie.sargent@dartford.gov.uk

OPEN

Consultation Response to the 
Ebbsfleet Development 
Corporation (EDC) on a Variation 
to the Outline Planning 
Permission for Eastern Quarry

 

Cabinet
25 May 2017

Sonia Bunn, Development 
Manager
Tel: 01322 343620
sonia.bunn@dartford.gov.uk

OPEN

Kent Thameside Strategic 
Transport Programme Annual 
Report

The report sets out progress over the 
year on the Kent Thameside 
Strategic Transport Programme and 
seeks agreement to the Forward 
Delivery Programme for 2017/18.

Cabinet
29 Jun 2017

There is consultation on 
the Forward Delivery 
Programme with key 
stakeholders through 
the STP Steering Group. 
Public consultation 
takes place on individual 
schemes within the 
Programme before they 
are implemented.  

Teresa Ryszkowska, Head of 
Regeneration
Tel: 01322 343631
teresa.ryszkowska@dartford.gov.
uk

OPEN

Stone Lodge - Appropriation for 
Planning Purposes

  

Cabinet
29 Jun 2017

Appropriation for 
planning purposes to be 
advertised post in 
principle decision by 
Cabinet.

Marie Kelly-Stone, Head of Legal 
Services
Tel: 01322 343634
marie.kelly-
stone@dartford.gov.uk

OPEN



3 of 3

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified)

Write-off of National Non-
Domestic Rates

To consider writing-off Non Domestic 
Rate debts where it has not been 
possible to obtain payment because 
of insolvency, because the ratepayer 
cannot be traced or where the debt 
is otherwise irrecoverable.

Cabinet
29 Jun 2017

Sue Cressall, Revenues Manager
Tel: 01732 227041
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)





SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
23 May 2017

PRINCES PARK

Ward: Brent

  
1.   The Chairman of the Committee has requested an update on the Lease and 

Service Level Agreements between the Council and Dartford F.C. (1992) 
Limited (“Dartford Football Club”). 

2. RECOMMENDATION
    That the contents of the report be noted.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 The Lease for Dartford Football Club (covering the whole of Princes 
Park with the exception of the mini pitches) was completed on 19 
March 2012.The Lease commenced on 1 February 2009, as the term 
was backdated, and the Lease will expire on 31 January 2034.

3.2 The initial Service Level Agreement (SLA) for community facilities 
(excluding the mini pitches) with the Dartford Football Club was 
completed at the same time as the Lease in March 2012. The initial 
SLA was for the period from February 2009 to March 2012. A further 
five year agreement was then completed which came to an end in 
March 2017. There are ongoing discussions with the Dartford Football 
Club on the possibility of a further SLA.

3.3 The terms of the grant funding from the Football Foundation, which 
was used to partly fund the build of the mini pitches, require the 
Council to account for all income and expenditure in connection with 
the pitches. The mini-pitches have been operated and managed by the 
Dartford Football Club but as a result of the grant funding conditions 
were not included within the area leased to the Club. A separate SLA 
was therefore required in order to regulate this arrangement. The initial 
SLA for the mini pitches was completed on 5 September 2011 and was 
for a term for one year. The SLA was extended for a further year on the 
same terms. A three year agreement was then completed, again on 
similar terms, which came to an end in March 2017. There are ongoing 
discussions with the Dartford Football Club on the possibility of a 
further SLA

3.4 In 2008/9 Council’s costs attributable to Princes Park was £158,000. 
The grant payable to Dartford Football Club in 2016/17 was £90,000. 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
23 May 2017

3.5 The net income from the mini pitches has improved year on year and 
the figure for the year 2016/17 is £48,622 compared with the same 
period in 2015/16 of £40,355.

3.6 The update report for 2016/17 from Dartford Football Club is attached 
as Appendix A.

4   Relationship to the Corporate Plan

HW2 Increase the opportunities for participating in sporting, cultural 
and leisure opportunities

5 Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None specifically from this report

Legal Implications None specifically from this report

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment None specifically from this report

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Dartford Football Club Report 2016/17

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section 
and

Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Stephen Jefferson Policy & 
Corporate 
Support

N/A



APPENDIX A

Princes Park Annual Report 2016-2017

Gate attendances July 2016 - May 2017 : 31,191 – This was a full set of league fixtures and friendlies 
also x3 cup games.

Golf usage : April 2016 - March 2017 : 600 rounds by members / loyalty cards holders, 1005 pay on 
gate rounds. – we had less members this year as some had operations etc… which meant they were 
not sure when they could play, so were casual users instead.

Footgolf usage: April 2016 – March 2017: 1328 pay on gate rounds. Footgolf has become 
increasingly popular this year. 

Community Pitch and Mini Pitches were used by over 30 local clubs in the last year. They all have 
regular weekly bookings. We also booked in over 200 casual bookings from people in the local 
community.

Dartford has continued to run a loyalty scheme where golfers pay for 5 rounds and get their 6th free. 
The golf and foot golf course is advertised on twitter, facebook, website, periodically in the 
programme and has been advertised in local magazine Dartford Living. An advertising board is pitch 
side within the stadium, and also a road sign on Princes Road by the main gates has been erected 
promoting the golf course.

Dartford FC carried on working in partnership with UK Footgolf to develop the sport at Princes Park. 
As a club we started introducing it in community visits and school trips, also in school holiday 
courses. We also had ambassadors who were very active in promoting it on social media with videos, 
photos etc. We also held a national tournament where competitors from all over the country visited. 
Next year we are taking over more of the responsibility from UK Footgolf, this will enable us to 
promote more how we wish and try more loyalty schemes and promotional discounts. We also now 
have a Princes Park team sponsored by Dartford Living who will compete in a league across the 
south east, therefore promoting the ground.

Dartford FC have regular bookings online for all its facilities, it allows people to book golf, Footgolf, 
mini pitches and community pitch online. Payment can be taken there and then through paypal 
which is easier for the customer.

We had no ground share this year, but have already agreed a 5 year contract with Thamesmead, to 
ground share from the start of the 2017 / 2018 season.

The club now run 4 academy teams, two are linked with Leigh academy alongside the 35 youth 
teams in the pre academy and junior teams.



THE LEIGH ACADEMY x 2 teams

Dartford Football Club is linked with neighbouring school, The Leigh Academy, to give students the 
opportunity to continue working towards their A-Levels whilst pursuing their passion in Football.

Phil Murray (Head of DFC Youth Development) and Sean Scolding (DFC Community Lead) have been 
working alongside Simon Beamish (Leigh Academies Trust CEO), Sue Crocker (Leigh Academies Trust 
Business Director) and Sharon Waterman (Leigh Academy Principal) in order for the scheme to come 
together. With The Leigh Academy and Dartford FC being located next door to each other it was an 
opportunity that no one involved could miss out on and a chance to create an ongoing partnership.

Dartford FC already has an Academy in place which runs in partnership with SCL and offers students 
the chance to gain BTECs along with qualifications and experience in football. Due to many young 
adults aspiring to go to university after their school education is over, the necessity of A Levels is 
something that students would currently miss out on at Dartford. The new partnership with The 
Leigh Academy now enables those who have a passion for football to continue their studies towards 
the qualifications they need whilst receiving regular training and coaching from highly qualified FA 
coaches affiliated to the football club, plus the opportunity to represent the club at levels between 
Youth Conference Alliance League and the new SCL League with the possibility of progressing into 
the First Team or higher.

With A Levels such as Biology, Media Studies and P.E. to choose from there is a suitable variety of 
options available for any candidate who is interested in the scheme. In order for students to gain 
their place on the course they must obtain 5 GCSEs grade A-C including Maths and English. Once 
their academic application is successful they will be offered a trial at Dartford Football Club.

We currently have x26 Year 1 students and x8 Year 2 students with a mixture of boys and girls. Next 
season we obviously hope that all x26 year 1 students will continue into year 2 and we take a new 
intake of year 1 students, doubling our numbers from Leigh Academy.

Ebou' Adams signed for Premier League Norwich City on an initial 18 month contract. Ebou is a 
product of our extremely successful Academy programme, working very closely with Tony Burman, 
Steve Mosely, Deren Ibrahim and Jason Long. He made his 1st team league debut at Macclesfield in 
the Conference Premier Division last April and has made 15 starting appearances for the Darts this 
season.

SCL x 2 teams

COURSE

A 2-year, full-time education and football development programme for 16-18 year olds. 

Year 1 - BTEC Level 3 Subsidiary Diploma in Sport

Year 2 - BTEC Level 3 Diploma in Sport

Players will study a variety of nationally-recognised qualifications within sport, coaching and fitness 
managed by SCL. 



Where required students will study Maths and English GCSE or Functional Skills.

SCL Education Group is one of the UK’s leading independent providers of education through sport. 

Government approved post-16 private education provider

Experts in the field of sport and education delivery with over 15 years' experience

Nationally recognised for high quality advice and guidance 

Programmes delivered in real sports environments 

Proven Progression routes

UCAS POINTS

Up to 280

LEAGUE

Conference Youth Alliance and SCL league

COST

FREE for 16-18 year olds 

ENTRY REQUIREMENTS

3 GCSES A-C preferably one Maths or English

FOOTBALL TRAINING

Dartford FC

EDUCATION PROVIDER

SCL Education Group

Play in the Football in the Conference Youth Alliance and SCL league

Daily training from highly qualified FA coaches

Guidance on individual football fitness

Nutritional advice

Regular appraisal to monitor development both on and off the pitch

The Dartford FC Academy is the pinnacle of the football club's development programme and the 
final stage of preparation prior to Reserve and First Team football.

With our extensive youth development system, we have developed an outstanding reputation for 
nurturing talented players through this and into professional and non-league football. 



The Academy will play a fundamental role in Dartford FC’s youth department which will strive to 
create a development culture with the primary function of developing players to compete in the 
First Team squad.

Here at Dartford FC, we are passionate about developing young footballers through the delivery of 
quality coaching, a unique and unrivaled education programme with the use of modern, state-of-
the-art-facilities.

Players such as Charlie Sheringham (AFC Bournemouth), Cody McDonald (Coventry City FC) and Dave 
Martin (Derby County FC) have all developed their football with the First Team at Dartford Football 
Club before being signed by their respective professional clubs showing the calibre of player that the 
football club is producing.

We currently have Deren Ibrahim, Ronnie Vint, Richard Seixas, Michael Habte, Tony Coxall, Alfie 
Pavey in the first team squad, all have come through the academy or pre-academy.

PRE-ACADEMY (7-16)

The pre-academy at Dartford FC forms part of our player pathway to first team football at the club. 
We aim to create a learning environment where talented young players, many of whom have been 
at professional clubs, can continue to progress. Whilst winning is important, our emphasis focuses 
on the way we play. Therefore, developing players who have tactical as well as technical skill is 
delivered throughout the years through a well-balanced learning syllabus.

Our squads start at u7 (school year 2) and go through to u16s (school year 11), they then trial for our 
full academy if they have achieved the standards required. At an appropriate point, players are 
signed exclusively to the pre-academy squads, until then they can play for their local club teams as 
well. The squads play in the Elite Development Programme (EDP) against professional and semi-
professional advanced player centres. They also play against professional club academy squads.

The U13s – U16s are members of the Junior Premier League with such teams as Portsmouth, 
Bournemouth, Woking, Isle of Wight, Basingstoke, and Charlton. Foundation squad players are 
expected to be coached for 1.5 hours per week and the Development phase players for 3 hours per 
week. They are coached by minimum FA Level 2, YCA Module 2 coaches, or coaches who are working 
towards that minimum standard.

The pre-academy is divided into two phases for players to learn and develop in the way that our 
clubs wants them to. We feel that this meets the requirements of the FA strategy, ‘The Future Game’ 
and mirrors the approach taken in in the professional academy environments through the Elite 
Player Performance Plan.

FOUNDATION PHASE

This phase focuses on the development of our u8s – u11. At these ages we focus on Agility, Balance 
& Coordination, the ABCs. Fun and technique are paramount. Whilst it is serious stuff, we like the 
players to learn and develop in a more ‘discovered learning’ environment, so developing an inquiring 
mind and approach is key. A mild sense of self-discipline will be instilled as well. 



DEVELOPMENT PHASE

This phase focuses on the development of our u12s – u16s. Whilst technical ability is still key in 
terms of the player development process, at these ages players start to learn about the bigger game. 
Roles, responsibilities and tactical application on the field come above winning. A winning mentality 
is strongly encouraged, but not at the cost of losing sight of playing our kind of football. Footballers 
for all scenarios during a game, is what we need. To be able to read a game and know what is 
required as: an individual; part of a function; and, as a squad as a whole, whilst being strongly 
disciplined….will see a player through to our Academy!

ELITE DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME

We have joined a programme involving professional and semi-professional club advanced and 
development centres. Primarily, this involves playing clubs in tri-tournaments during school holidays. 
The clubs involved are: Arsenal, Brighton, MK Dons, Wycombe Wanderers, Walsall, Northampton, 
Histon, Oxford, Brentford and Luton.

In addition to the Elite Development Programme, we play against: Millwall, Gillingham, QPR, Fulham, 
West Ham, West Brom, Woking, Basingstoke, leyton Orient and Bournemouth. In the main, these 
fixtures involve our Development Phase (u12s – u16s) squads.

The club is keen to support local football in the Kent County as well. Our Development Phase squads 
continue to support the local county cup competitions. In addition, we are working with other clubs, 
the FA and local /national youth leagues, in order to create a strategic approach to delivering a 
programme just outside of the professional game.

GIRLS SQUADS

 Dartford FC already has a thriving girls structure. We now have 5 teams from U14s- U16s and a 
Ladies 1st team, who train at the club once a week coached by qualified Pre Academy staff. We also 
run a girls development centre (school years 3 – 6) with the aim of the sessions to develop existing 
talent and encourage girls in the community to get involved in the club. We hope that with a few 
years hard work we can see a vast improvement in the numbers of girls’ squads on offer. Their 
competitive games are played in the Kent Girls and Ladies football league.

The ladies 1st team have completed their first season. They are in a very competitive league with 
established teams, but managed to finish 4th which was a great effort. They have also spent the 
season promoting themselves at the men’s 1st team games to try and encourage people to watch 
them on Sundays

Dartford Junior Section

Dartford Football Club runs a thriving and successful Junior Section with teams ranging from U 7 
through to U21’s x20 teams in total. All those involved are volunteers, including managers and 
coaches.

The aim of the Junior Section is to provide adequate facilities for training and matches, arrange 
matches and social events for the members and the surrounding community, provide a competitive, 



friendly standard of football for boys and girls aged 7-21 at the cheapest possible price and to 
promote the game of ‘association football’.

The club holds the prestigious FA Charter Standard status and has been awarded one of the highest 
levels possible that of a Development Club.

All our Junior Team Managers and Coaches are CRB checked,  qualified to a minimum of FA Level 1 
with some going on to achieve  FA Level 2. Each team has at least 1 Coach and/or Manager that has 
attended the FA Safeguarding Children & 1st Aid Workshops.  The Child Welfare Officer and 
Committee members regularly carry out checks to ensure that managers and coaches adhere to the 
rules of the club.  These include ensuring the safety of the children whilst in their care and carry out 
spot checks at matches to ensure managers have a full first aid kit.

Mini Soccer School

Our mini soccer school operates on a pay and play basis meeting every Saturday during the football 
season – September to May.  Our sessions consist of fun based learning of all aspects of football 
including:

Passing

Dribbling (close ball skills)

Shooting

1v1 skills

Team work

Our aim is to nurture the interest and love of football in boys and girls aged 4-6 (reception- Yr1 only) 
with the option of joining a Dartford Junior Section team when they reach the appropriate age 
group.  At intervals during the season, there may be opportunities for players to get involved with 
tournaments and competitions giving them practical experience of playing in a team.

The coaches who run our Mini Soccer School come from our own Junior Section and are CRB 
checked, hold FA Safeguarding Children qualifications, First Aid badges and are trained to FA Level 1 
standard.

Our Mini Soccer School is run on the 3G mini all weather pitches which are a great surface for 
children to learn and develop their footballing skills.  

Community

In June 2016 we received a grant from Winners Chapel to set up outreach centres in the community 
and also a schools programme. The outreach centres take place in Dartford and Swanscombe, these 
occur once a week, on average 20 young people attends per centre.  We are currently working with 
5 primary schools delivering free football / sports sessions. 



We also have 3 satellite centres for girls and they take place at Wilmington Grammar, Dartford 
Grammar and Wilmington Academy. In total we have engaged with 150 young people and have 
recruited girls for our own teams through this.

We continue with the school curriculum project and have had 2 schools participate this year. This 
involves 60 children per school using sport and football within their core curriculum subjects. 
Wentworth and Holy Trinity are the schools involved

We also work with schools partnership to deliver district primary school football and have hosted a 
number of schools tournaments in the past year.

Through our partnership with DBC we continue to host healthy living activity, targeting young 
vulnerable adult males. They carry out physical activities on pitches and foot golf as well as learning 
to cook and manage day to day tasks. 

Catering & Functions

The catering section is operated by the same people, in the past year they have had over 300 
functions. They host regular networking mornings for local businesses as well as big corporate 
functions. Birthday parties, funerals and wedding receptions are also very popular.

Baby Ballet occurs every Monday and Saturday with over 100 children per session along with their 
parents.

Dartford Living magazine hold regular networking events and the Mayor uses the venue for 
functions. 

Salsa classes are every Wednesday with 150 people attending regularly.

In the past year they have also held functions for Demelza House, St Michaels Church, Wilmington 
primary school, Alzeima UK, The Princes Trust, Teacher conferences for DASCO, Darenth Valley 
Hospital. 

Champions Bar is open daily from 10am – 6pm for golfers, foot golf, parents for football and general 
public.

Dartford Road Runners still use our facilities on Tuesdays and Sundays. We are hosting their 5 mile 
run in August where runners from all over the area will start and finish at Princes Park and will be 
running around the Dartford area.

New

Millwall Football Club continue to use our facilities for some training sessions and matches, we had 
the U21 team here for x4 u21 premier league games and we plan to have at least x6 next season. 
Their first team are also playing us in a friendly in July 2017.

We had the new 3G surface installed on the community pitch and also added a 65 seater stand. This 
has been a welcome addition for supporters and means we can have step 7 teams using the facilities 
now as we reach the required grading for Step 7 matches. The new surface has had great feedback 
and all the drainage issues have now been resolved as well.



We installed a height barrier at the top of the drive, to deter illegal occupation of site. Due to 
deliveries and coaches etc… we are looking at the best way of keeping that secure but with the easy 
ability to open it when required and people making sure they close it afterwards.

We had a supporter’s day last summer where everyone came and helped decorate and clean places 
around the stadium to keep it looking tidy and fresh. This summer the upstairs function rooms, 
corridor and stairwells will be decorated.

Improvements were made to the overflow car park to fill in pot holes and resurface areas, this will 
be done again this summer. 

Netting was installed at both ends of stadium to stop Pigeons nesting and making mess around all 
food and toilet areas. Going forward we will look to do more areas as required.

We are now the base for Autoglass engineers, they have containers in our car park which they store 
all equipment and materials and come and collect them etc.… 

We are also the base for Wallace School of Transport, a HGV lorry driving test instructor. They utilise 
the overflow car park.



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
23 MAY 2017

FAIRFIELD

PRINCES WARD
1. Summary

1.1 To update the Committee on progress with the management contract at Fairfield.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the Committee note the report.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The rebuilt Fairfield opened in February 2016. The centre is managed by 
Places for People (PfP), a national leisure provider.

3.2. The company has prepared a report concerning their first year of operation 
and this is attached at Appendix A. PfP representatives will be available to 
answer Members questions.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Fairfield meets Corporate Plan objectives relating to Health and Well 
Being, Economic Development and Regeneration and Environment and 
Sustainability.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

None

7. Appendices

Appendix A - Fairfield Annual Report



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
23 MAY 2017

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Documents consulted Date/

File Ref
Report Author Section and

Directorate
Exempt

Information
Category

Adrian Gowan 
(01322) 343418

Policy and 
Corporate
Support
Internal
Services



























SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
23 May 2017

                                              

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 2016-17

1. Summary

To consider the work carried out by the Scrutiny Committee during the 2016-17   
municipal cycle.

2. RECOMMENDATION

That subject to any amendments proposed by Members, the Committee’s Annual 
Report for 2016–17 [attached as Appendix A to this report] be agreed and 
submitted to the next meeting of the General Assembly of the Council. 

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The Scrutiny Committee’s Protocol and Terms of Reference (ToRs) as 
confirmed at Annual Council each year requires the Committee to report 
annually to the General Assembly of the Council on its work. 

3.2. A copy of the Scrutiny Committee’s draft Annual Report for the 2016-17 
municipal cycle is attached at Appendix A for consideration.  The Scrutiny 
Committee’s current Protocol and Terms of Reference (ToRs) are attached 
as Appendices B and C respectively. 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan
Not applicable.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None 

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category
Not applicable

7. Appendices
Appendix A – draft Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2016-17;
Appendix B – Scrutiny Protocol [February 2016];
Appendix C – Terms of Reference (ToRs) [10 May 2017]



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
23 May 2017

                                              

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Scrutiny Committee Annual 
Report 2015-16, Agendas and 
Minutes (Sept. 2016 – Feb. 
2017), current Scrutiny Protocol 
and ToRs.

May 2017 David Hook
Committee Coordinator

Member Services 
(01322 343276)

Member 
Services/

Monitoring 
Officer

N/A



SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

  Draft Annual Report 2016-17

APPENDIX A



Introduction and Background

The Council appointed the Scrutiny Committee in response to the Local 
Government Act 2000 in order to introduce more democracy into the decision 
making process and to ensure that those who make decisions are held 
accountable. 

The Committee performs the scrutiny function on behalf of the Council in 
accordance with the guidelines contained in its Protocol and Terms of 
Reference (ToR) documents as confirmed at Annual Council each year 
(attached to this report as Appendix B and C respectively). 

The Committee’s remit is to contribute to improving Council services by 
holding decision makers to account to the ultimate benefit of the residents of 
the Borough. To achieve this aim the Committee may:

 Review and question Cabinet Members and Officers about decisions 
and performance;

 Scrutinise the performance of the Council in relation to its policy, 
objectives, performance targets and /or particular service areas;

 Make recommendations to the Cabinet, the Council etc. arising from 
the outcome of the scrutiny process. 

Work carried out by the Scrutiny Committee compliments the work of the 
Crime and Disorder (Overview & Scrutiny) and Policy Overview Committees, 
whose remits are set out in their respective Protocol and ToR documents. In 
compiling its work programme for the ensuing municipal year the Scrutiny 
Committee aims to avoid duplicating any work being undertaken by its sister 
Committees. 

The Committee’s Protocol requires it to report to the Council annually on the 
work it has undertaken in the preceding municipal year. This Annual Report 
provides a summary of the Committee’s work undertaken during the 
preceding 2016-17 municipal year. A comprehensive record of all the 
Committee’s deliberations in the period under review is contained in the 
Minutes of their meetings, as published in full on the Council’s website.

Annual Report for 2015-16 

On 13 September 2016 at the first meeting in the 2016-17 municipal cycle the 
Committee noted the contents of the draft Scrutiny Annual Report for the 
preceding 2015-16 municipal year and agreed that it be referred to the 
General Assembly of the Council for approval.



WORK PROGRAMME REVIEW 2016-17

The Committee is responsible for setting its own Work Programme for the 
ensuing municipal year and compiling an initial Work Plan for review at each 
subsequent meeting in the existing cycle. 

On 13 September 2016 at the first meeting in the 2016-17 municipal cycle the 
Committee agreed an initial Work Plan (WP) document. Details of the entire 
programme of work undertaken by the Committee in the period under review 
are set out below. 

The Committee met 3 times during the 2016-17 municipal year to receive 
reports on individual WP items and other topics drawn-down on an ad-hoc 
basis with the prior agreement of the Managing Director. Members also noted 
the published Regulation 9 Notice (formerly the Forward Plan) at each 
meeting, in addition to updating the Committee’s Work Plan on a rolling basis.  

WORK PLAN Items considered during the 2016-17 MUNICIPAL YEAR

13 September 2016

Item 1: Dartford Cricket Club in Hesketh Park [WP Update]

Members were reminded by the Chairman that the Committee had first drawn-
down the topic for scrutiny in July 2014, following the decision by Cabinet to 
invest some £1M in the construction of a new cricket pavilion in Hesketh Park, 
Dartford. Following that initial scrutiny the Committee had expressed a wish to 
see discernible and measurable outcomes for the Council’s significant capital 
investment, in terms of youth development and health benefits to the wider 
Dartford community, and had added the topic into its rolling Work Programme 
with a request that Officers provide the Committee with an annual update 
report, once the construction phase for the Pavilion had been completed and 
Dartford Cricket Club (DCC) [as tenant] had taken over the management of 
the new facility.

Also on 13 September 2016 the Committee received its first (verbal) update 
report from the Council’s Policy & Corporate Support Manager (P&CSM) 
together with Mr Jim Lowrie, Chairman of Dartford Cricket Club (DCC) as 
tenant of the new Pavilion. Principal points covered by the P&CSM included:

 The Grant Funding of £1M to build the new Cricket Pavilion in Hesketh 
Park had formed part of the Council’s wider Community Facilities 
Programme for 2014-15;



 The new Pavilion had been completed in April/May 2015 to schedule 
and had been in operation for some twelve (12) months under the 
auspices of Dartford Cricket Club (DCC) as tenant;

 The Pavilion was owned by the Council and DCC [as tenant] operated 
the new facility under a commercial leasing arrangement with the 
Council;

 The old Pavilion had long ceased to be ‘fit for purpose’ and had 
become a restriction to the development of DCC to the stage that, 
without new and improved facilities the Club had faced probable 
extinction within the next 5 year period;

 The new Pavilion had enabled DCC to immediately expand both its 
sporting potential and ability to play a fuller role in support of a number 
of Health & Wellbeing initiatives across the Borough, which were now 
beginning to achieve positive results;

 As tenant of the new Pavilion facility DCC did not provide a service to 
the Council, consequently setting ‘targets’ for the Club to achieve in 
terms of increased community participation in sporting programmes 
and activities was not  appropriate.

The Chairman acknowledged the points made by the P&CSM but maintained 
his view that the Council’s allocation of £1M of Council Tax monies to build 
the new Cricket Pavilion in Hesketh Park should remain subject to transparent 
scrutiny by the Committee and that clear outcomes should be set to justify the 
Council’s capital investment and demonstrate how the significant financial 
outlay helped to meet relevant Objectives in the Council’s Corporate Plan.

In response to the Chairman’s continued expression of concern, the P&CSM 
emphasised the following further points for the Committee:

 the new Pavilion represented a Council asset that would only increase 
in value in future years;

 the Pavilion also generated income for the Council through continued 
leasing arrangements with Dartford Cricket Club (DCC);

 Cabinet had decided that DCC (with its sporting expertise) would take 
the lead in the development and range of new activities provided at the 
new Pavilion facility going forward;

 DCC’s expertise in the sporting field was a tangible benefit to the 
Council which the Club [as tenant] was providing free of charge;

 ‘Target setting’ by the Council for the Club as tenant was not 
appropriate, e.g. Council house tenants were not set targets for their 
occupancy;

 The Council’s Leisure & Communities Officer held regular meetings 
with the Club as they took their various initiatives for greater community 
involvement in the new Hesketh Park Pavilion facility forward, and 
provided a ‘monitoring’ role for the Council in this respect; 

 The Council’s arrangements with Dartford Football Club (DFC) in 
Princes Park were not comparable to the arrangements with DCC [as 
tenant] of the new Pavilion in Hesketh Park. DFC provided a service to 
the Council for Princes Park as a whole, and that service was governed 
by the terms of a formal Service Level Agreement (SLA) which 
included targets to be met by DFC and performance against those 
targets was reviewed annually by the Scrutiny Committee.



Members were also briefed, separately, by the Chairman of Dartford Cricket 
Club Mr Jim Lowrie, on specific measures that the Club had taken to increase 
community participation in the enhanced facilities available at the new 
Pavilion:

 Growth of  the Schools Programme to help meet demand in the second 
full year of the new Pavilion’s operation;

 Continued promotion of the Afro-Caribbean and Asian cricket team at 
Hesketh Park and the development of a Jamaican exchange 
programme, with Dartford players visiting the Caribbean and Jamaican 
players paying return visits to Dartford;

 Continued use by Dartford Road Runners and Dartford Cycle Club of 
the new Pavilion facilities during the Winter months;

 Increased community bookings for the new Pavilion facilities in the first 
12 months of operation, in comparison to the previous 12 months in 
the old pavilion facility.

The Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Events, Leisure and Heritage also addressed 
the Committee. She advised that the general aim of Cabinet (in terms of a 
return on the Council’s capital investment) was to increase the number of 
boys and girls using the new Pavilion facilities on a year on year basis. No 
specific targets had been set for DCC [as tenant] but anecdotal evidence 
indicated that the Council’s investment in the provision of a new cricket 
pavilion in Hesketh Park was already providing a strong return.

The Chairman accepted that the Council’s arrangements with DCC as tenant 
of the new cricket pavilion in Hesketh Park differed from the commercial 
arrangements the Council had in place DFC for the management of Princes 
Park and with HQ Theatres Ltd. for the management of The Orchard Theatre, 
Dartford. However he noted that Cabinet; in taking its decision to fund the 
provision of a new cricket pavilion in Hesketh Park had linked that significant 
capital investment to the achievement of outcomes in terms of Corporate Plan 
Objectives; as recorded in the Cabinet report and Minutes of June 2014. He 
therefore maintained that it was the role of the Scrutiny Committee to ensure 
that the delivery of those outcomes remained under transparent scrutiny by 
the Committee and that Cabinet was held to account.
 
The Committee resolved to note the need for clear and measurable outcomes 
for the Council’s investment of capital funding of £1M for the provision of a 
new cricket pavilion in Hesketh Park, Dartford and asked that their concerns 
be referred to Cabinet for consideration and appropriate response.

The Committee also agreed to retain the topic in its Rolling Work Programme 
and to request annual update reports on the operation of the new Pavilion by 
Dartford Cricket Club [as tenant] going forward.

Item 2: Disposal of Dartford Household Waste [WP Update]

The Committee received a presentation from Mr. David Beaver, Head of 
Waste Management and Business Services, KCC, which outlined the overall 



structure in Kent for the collection and disposal of household waste. Principal 
points that were brought to Members’ attention included:

 KCC held the statutory role of Waste Disposal Authority (WDA) for 
Kent and held overall responsibility for waste policy and 
implementation for the County;

 The Kent Resource Partnership (KRP) was the administrative body set 
up to achieve common goals for waste disposal and recycling and to 
effect economies of scale in those operations whenever possible;

 The success of KRP was dependent on good co-operation and close 
working with Kent District and Borough Councils, in their individual 
roles as Waste Collection Authorities (WCAs);

 KRP had formed three Project Groups for East, Mid and West Kent to 
help individual Councils achieve collective goals for waste collection;

 KRP East and Mid Kent Project Groups shared a single contract for the 
collection and disposal of waste for all their District and Borough 
Councils which had generated significant economies of operation;

 A single contract for the KRP’s West Kent Project Group of authorities 
was a future target;

 Re-cycling targets varied across Kent authorities, but all Kent Councils 
shared a common strategy to increase re-cycling and further reduce 
the levels of waste going to land–fill sites.

Details of specific areas of operation for the disposal of household waste for 
Dartford included:

Pepperhill joint HWRC / WTS facility

 Household Waste and Re-cycling Centres (HWRCs) were used by both 
residents and local authorities; 

 Waste Transfer Stations (WTSs) were used by local authorities to 
dispose of waste collected from households;

 Pepperhill on the A2 operated as both an HWRC and a WTS, jointly by 
Dartford and Gravesham Councils and residents;

 Pepperhill’s HWRC operation had reached its full capacity and had led 
to delays in vehicle ‘turnaround’ times for both Councils and impacted 
on resident use. Significant contributory factors to the HWRC capacity 
issue included: additional use by the Ebbsfleet Garden City 
Development, Dartford vehicles ‘double-tipping’ to accommodate a 
separate kerbside glass collection and Gravesham’s use of caged 
vehicle requiring manual unloading.

 Discussions between Dartford and Gravesham Waste Managers and 
the new Pepperhill Operations Manager had been scheduled to 
resolve issues and improve the operation going forward.

Re-cycling

 The Allington Incinerator plant was Kent’s major re-cycling centre, 
contracted by the County until 2030;

 Allington incinerated domestic waste and disposed of white goods 
under a Government funded scheme which manufacturers contributed 



to thus saving KCC and individual authorities significant transportation 
costs;

 Composting of green waste in Kent was good overall and undertaken 
for Dartford households at the plant in Crayford;

 The percentage of Kent waste processed to land-fill sites was the 
lowest in the U.K. at fewer than 5%.

Challenges to Waste Disposal in Kent

 Income from re-cycling at the Allington facility had dropped since 2015 
which reflected the corresponding falling in prices in the commodities 
market in 2014 which translated into a drop in re-cycling ‘credits’ 
distributed by KCC to Kent District and Borough authorities;

 Machination of collected waste into Refuse Derived Fuel pallets (RDFs) 
for export to mainland Europe had also undergone negative market 
pressures with Kent’s RDF clients sourcing cheaper supplies from 
within mainland Europe;

 There was a need to re-negotiate the current RDF contracts within the 
overall Kent Waste budget, but the UK’s Brexit decision had 
complicated both future waste legislation and the UK’s long and short-
term relationship with Europe.  

Kent Waste Disposal Strategy (KWDS)

Members were briefed by Hannah Allard, Waste Business Development 
Manager KCC, who underlined the importance of a joint KWDS across Kent 
and the key role to be played by individual Borough and District Councils in 
helping to formulate a common disposal strategy, with synergies and 
dovetailing between individual authorities contributing to the collective effort. 

KCC’s Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee had approved a draft 
Strategy document In May 2016 with a timeline and milestones, driven by the 
need to do more with less funding and resources, to meet projected rises in 
population and housing in the period 2015-2031. Key milestones were: 

 July – September 2016 - live Consultation; October – November 2016 - 
Consultation analysis and final strategy; February 2017 - Implementation / 
action plan produced to meet outcomes with further consultation where 
required.

The main focus of KCC’s new Strategy was the West Kent Project Group, of 
which Dartford was predicted to have the largest projected rise in population 
in the period under review of some 39% - double the estimated rise for Kent 
Districts. 

The new Strategy would also address the ongoing capacity issue at the 
Pepperhill facility. KCC Officers and the Council’s Waste & Parks Manager 
confirmed the following principle points for Members:

 Capacity rather than operating procedures remained the principal issue 
at Pepperhill, but new operating solutions were also required given that 
FCC’s contract for the management of Pepperhill ran until 2035;



 Replacing Pepperhill with a larger facility was a capital investment that 
KCC could not make in the current fiscal climate, nor was central 
government funding  available to replace Pepperhill and no Section 
106 provision existed to fund a new facility;

 KCC together with the Dartford and Gravesham local authorities would 
continue to look at Pepperhill’s capacity issues with the single 
collection methodology for household waste collection favoured, this 
suited residents and impacted less on community infra-structures;

 The vote for Brexit had caused uncertainty over the future 
management of the waste disposal industry in the UK;  it was not yet 
clear whether European or new UK standards would be applied to the 
future management of waste;

 KCC’s contract with the Allington re-processing plant was due to end in 
2030 but a new plant at Sittingbourne due to open in 2019, would 
provide increased capacity in the sector;

 KCC held no statutory responsibility to collect trade waste but was 
aware of increased incidents of fly-tipping (a criminal offence) and 
participated in the ‘Fly-Tipping Working Group’ to prosecute offenders.

Members expressed their appreciation and thanks to KCC Officers for 
updating the Committee and looked forward to viewing their final Municipal 
Waste Strategy document when published. 

15 November 2016

Item 1: References from Cabinet 27 October 2016 – New Cricket Pavilion 
in Hesketh Park

Members considered the response from Cabinet as set out in Cabinet Minute 
No. 59 to the Committee’s referral report dated 27 October 2016. The 
Committee’s report had relayed the concerns of Scrutiny Members over the 
lack of defined outcomes for the Council’s capital project to invest £1M in the 
construction of a new cricket pavilion in Hesketh Park. 

The Committee agreed that Cabinet’s decision not to monitor DCC’s 
performance in providing a programme of community activity including health 
& well-being initiatives was a missed opportunity, in terms of advising the Club 
over possible future capacity building measures and possible revenue 
streams. However, Members also noted that the Club (as tenant) of the new 
Pavilion could not be held to account by the Council in terms of targets and 
objectives for the provision of specific community schemes.

Item 2: Orchard Theatre Annual Report 2015-16 

The Committee considered the annual management and performance report 
for The Orchard Theatre, Dartford for the period 1 April 2015 to 31 March 
2016. The Theatre’s Director, Mr Chris Glover, advised Members of the key 
highlights for the year under review:

 9% increase in  attendance with average performance capacity 
retained at 61% [ above national average figure];



 The Orchard remained on the No.1 touring circuit for shows prior to  
West End release with the musical Chicago breaking all previous 
Orchard records with 97% audience capacity, Jools Holland, Lulu and 
UB40 had all featured in the Music programme and the Drama 
programme had included An Inspector Calls which ran for 2 weeks with 
40% of tickets allocated to local schools; 

 The Dick Whittington Christmas Panto had been complemented with a 
full seasonal programme in 2015/16 including; Winter Wonderland, Die 
Fledermaus, That’ll Be The Day Christmas Show and the Magic of 
Christmas charity concert, which had helped to achieve recording 
breaking advance sales for Snow White for the 2016/17 festive season 
programme;

 Sell-out comedy shows had included; Al Murray as the Pub Landlord 
and An Evening with Ken Dodd and the Dance programme had 
included a record breaking run of  Last Tango plus  Ballet 
performances from Ballet Boyz, Zoo Nation and Inala prior to the 
companies appearing at Sadler’s Wells;

 Membership of the Orchard Youth Theatre (OYT) with the OYT 
participating in the National Theatre Young Connections competition 
for the first time;

 Dartford Community Choir had continued their performances in the 
Theatre’s foyer prior to programmes commencing, further 
strengthening The Orchard’s existing ties with the community;

 The Orchard investment programme had provided an air cooling 
system in the auditorium and upper foyer prior to the warmer summer 
weather;

 The Orchard had been awarded the nationally acclaimed ‘Investors in 
People’ accreditation, a major coup for the Theatre management team.

The Chairman accepted that the primary objective of the Council was to have 
The Orchard well run and in profit, thereby reducing the commercial risk to the 
authority and that this was clearly the case. However, he maintained that the 
role of the Committee was to scrutinize both the management of The Orchard 
by HQ Theatres Ltd. and to examine how the Council could use the current 
commercial and lease arrangements with HQ Theatres Ltd. to best meet 
relevant Corporate Objectives, in particular to meet targets for increased 
community inclusion and diversity.  

Members were advised by the Leisure & Communities Officer that the 
Monitoring Schedule [Appendix A to covering report] required that; 
Community Access, Audience profile and Programme Balance for The 
Orchard be monitored by Council Officers on a monthly, quarterly and six-
monthly basis and by the Committee annually. The Council’s contract 
arrangements for the management of The Orchard also met [in part] the 
Health & Wellbeing Objective (HW2). 

The Committee were also addressed by the Cabinet Portfolio Holder for 
Events, Leisure & Heritage who advised Members that the Council was 
entirely satisfied with the performance of HQ Theatres’ Ltd. and Mr Glover as 
Orchard Theatre Director. The Orchard audiences had increased year on year 
under the management of HQ Theatres’ and The Orchard’s Programme had 
continued to expand and diversify and profits had increased with 10% [nett] 



accruing to the Council. The Christmas Panto continued to break box-office 
records every year, with continued success also achieved in both drama and 
dance with many productions being secured prior to West End release. The 
relationship between Officers and the Orchard’s Director and his team was 
excellent and the Theatre’s role and profile in the Dartford community 
continued to deepen and expand. 

Several Members spoke in support of HQ Theatres’ excellent, continued, 
management of The Orchard Theatre on behalf of the Council. The Chairman 
also stressed for the record, that his comments regarding the attainment of 
relevant Corporate Plan Objectives, was not designed in any way to diminish 
the Council’s excellent working relationship with the Theatre’s management 
team and HQ Theatres Ltd success in managing The Orchard, on behalf of 
the Council. His primary objective was to examine how the Scrutiny 
Committee could provide added value to the existing checks and balances 
provided by the Theatre Director’s Annual Report for the operation of The 
Orchard, and the separate Financial Statements for the Theatre provided by 
HQ Theatres Ltd. 

Members thanked the Theatre Director for his presentation and congratulated 
his team on another successful year managing The Orchard Theatre on 
behalf of the Council and resolved to note the 2015/16 Annual Report for the 
management of The Orchard Theatre Dartford by HQ Theatres Ltd.

7 February 2017

Item 1: Orchard Theatre Accounts 2015-16 Financial Year

Members received for noting, the Director’s Report and Financial Statements 
for The Orchard Theatre Dartford for the financial year ended 31 March 2016, 
as compiled by HQ Theatres Ltd.

The Theatre Director, Mr Chris Glover, reprised the principle points in the 
Financial Statements for Members:

 Profits up a further £80K year on year with 10% accruing to the Council 
on a pro-rata basis;

 Operating audience capacity of 62% (national average)
 Further growth in profits predicted for 2017-18 subject to ‘strength of –

product’ available – ‘Chicago’ and ‘Dirty Dancing’ had been particularly 
strong productions in 2016 and attracted sell-out audiences;

The Chairman thanked the Theatre Director and noted the very positive 
picture of increasing revenue and profit margins (including pro-rata for the 
Council) from the continued good management of The Orchard by HQ 
Theatres’ Ltd.

Members resolved to note the Directors’ Report and Financial Statements for 
the Year ended 31 March 2016 for the Orchard Theatre Dartford Limited, as 
presented in the Agenda papers.



Item 2: Fastrack Service – Update from Arriva and KCC 

The Committee had first considered the Fastrack Service to Dartford as a 
Draw-Down topic in November 2015 and received a verbal update from Arriva 
and KCC Transport representatives The verbal update was supplemented by 
tabled data from Arriva which recorded Fastrack passenger numbers, 
punctuality and ‘Lost Mileage’ figures for both A and B services, for the years 
2015 and 2016. Principal points covered in the update included:

 Improved performance and passenger numbers since November 2015 
on Arriva’s 480 and 490 routes with a corresponding drop in passenger 
numbers for Fastrack B;

 Arriva had no data that correlated the impact that closures to the 
Dartford tunnel had on Fastrack services, but Highways England data 
on Tunnel closures would be requested; 

 ‘Lost Mileage (LM)’ figures for Fastrack B had increased since 
November 2015 and only dropped slightly for Fastrack A reflecting 
common problems of traffic congestion and increased road usage 
being experienced by all bus operators across SE England; 

 ‘Start Point’ data indicated that 9 out of 10 Fastrack services started on 
time, but punctuality fell by the ‘Mid-Point’ for both routes with B the 
least punctual, no reliable ‘End Point’ data was available for either 
route;

 Arriva and KCC now held ‘Punctuality & Improvement Partnership’ 
meetings to address roadwork issues, as and when ongoing roadworks 
impacted on Arriva’s routes;

 Arriva now had an expanded role in the planning, execution and 
problem solving of roadworks, including directly with contractors, when 
roadworks impacted on Arriva services and routes;

 KCC had appointed a new Fastrack Development Manager in 2016, to 
take forward the future growth of Fastrack in line with housing 
developments in the Kent Thameside area;

 Work had progressed regarding Fastrack signalling and traffic light 
issues in Dartford with £44K recently commissioned for further 
improvements by 31 March 2017, including the introduction of new 
magnetic signalling measures to augment the existing ITS system 
embedded in the ticket machines on Fastrack buses;

 General traffic congestion and continued closures to the Dartford 
Tunnel in particular, were the major factors that continued to impact on 
the efficiency of the Fastrack service making it difficult for Arriva and 
KCC to gauge the effectiveness of their new measures and working 
practices; 

 Arriva contributed data to Highways England to help solve ongoing 
reliability issues. Arriva also contributed to KCC and Highways 
England, measures for improved traffic light provision and junction 
layouts in Dartford and fed into EDC’s Master Transport Plan for the 
extension of the current Fastrack provision to service the Garden City 
project. 

The Chairman advised Committee Members that he retained his concerns; 
despite the operational measures undertaken by Arriva and KCC since 
November 2015; that the continued poor performance of Fastrack, in 



particular the B service, represented a real risk to and failure of a key Council 
policy; namely to connect the Borough and get residents out of and less 
reliant on cars. He expressed further specific concern over developers using 
the existing Fastrack provision as an excuse for under-provision of residential 
parking in their development schemes. He cited The Bridge and Ingress Park 
as prime examples of developments with insufficient parking for modern multi-
car families, where children increasingly remained at home well into 
adulthood, given the continuing housing crisis.

The Head of Service, KCC Transport sought to re-assure the Chairman and 
Members over Fastrack. He advised that:

 KCC retained its policy aspirations for Fastrack;
 Fastrack remained only 50% developed for a variety of reasons but 

was a project that would be completed;
 The Garden City project represented a major challenge for the 

increased development of Fastrack,  with the Boroughs of Dartford and 
Gravesham effectively ‘growing-together’ around the planned Garden 
City;

 KCC was ‘ramping-up’ its Fastrack operation with a new development 
officer for the service now embedded in EDC, to assist with the 
development of Fastrack for the Garden City project;

 An agreed concept for Fastrack for the next 5 years for Dartford,  
Gravesham and the Garden City project would be crucial;

 Discussions with all stakeholders over delivery mechanisms were 
advanced and it was hoped that the key principals for an enhanced 
Fastrack service would be agreed amongst the parties in the next 6 
month period.

Members also expressed specific concerns over several operational issues 
affecting the existing Fastrack service, in addition to policy concerns. Specific 
operational issues included: timetabling, poor passenger communication, 
ticket cost, punctuality and the services to Ingress Park and Bluewater, 
including the ‘disappearing bus’s syndrome. Members were advised by Arriva 
and KCC representatives that:

 Fastrack timetables had been reviewed in September 2016 with a 
further review planned for September 2017;

 Highways England had been supplied with Fastrack journey data to 
help establish any correlation between specific closures to the Dartford 
tunnel and the impact on Fastrack punctuality;

 Feedback to passengers had been increased via social media, the 
Fastrack App, local radio stations and Bluewater Management 
announcements to supply Fastrack service updates;

 Fed into the discussions between KCC / EDC and Gravesham Council 
over the difficulties that the Fastrack service continued to experience;

 Discussions had been held between Arriva, KCC and Crest/Nicolson 
(contractor) over the need to ‘adopt’ the road in the Ingress Park 
development that will carry the Fastrack service directly out onto the 
London Road; rather than the current ‘turn-around’ arrangement for 
Fastrack with-in Ingress Park.



Members were advised with specific regard to Fastrack’s Bluewater service 
that Arriva monitored their vehicles via a GPS tracking system, embedded in 
the bus’s ticket machine. This allowed  vehicles to be tracked via satellite 
every 20 seconds in real time, with predicted data relayed (via Arriva Control) 
to display screens at individual bus stops. KCC Transport had updated all the 
Fastrack bus stop screens in the preceding 12 month period, but predictive 
data did not allow for; traffic jams / congestion, GPS ‘blind spots’ or a vehicle 
breaking down and ‘disappearing’ from the display screen. KCC offered to 
have their GPS expert inform Members in greater detail of the complexities of 
the GPS system and the difficulties that could be encountered in practice. 

The Chairman retained his concerns regarding Fastrack and the way forward 
for the Service and noted, in particular, that only 50% of its policy objectives 
had been achieved to date, despite the relative longevity of the Service. He 
believed that Fastrack could not push on to reach its full potential, without 
serious and increased input from the major stakeholders KCC, Arriva and 
both Dartford and Gravesham Councils. It was also his perception that 
developers (including EDC in their planning of the Garden City project) had 
played on the continued tension between increased Fastrack provision and 
the provision of adequate resident parking provision in their new housing 
developments. He was not aware of any evidence that showed Dartford 
residents were abandoning their cars in favour of Fastrack in particular and 
bus travel in general. Evidence of an improved Fastrack provision was 
therefore urgently required: both to properly inform the planning of the Garden 
City project and to improve the present Fastrack provision to both Boroughs. 
In particular, funding needed to be identified to expand Fastrack in the next 3-
4 years to make it fit for an expanded purpose and to ensure the success of 
the Garden City project, as presently envisaged by EDC.

Members were advised by KCC’s Head of Service for Transport that Fastrack 
was a KCC supported Service on a NIL revenue basis. The County authority 
would continue to support the Service (and Arriva as the operator until mid- 
2019). The Ebbsfleet development project was fluid in nature and KCC would 
continue to take forward discussions with EDC over the specifics of the 
Garden City project on that basis, including an expanded Fastrack provision; 
seen as an essential component to the success of the Garden City project. 
Work with all stakeholders – KCC, DBC and GBC would be ‘ramped-up’ and 
adequate funding provided to help achieve the desired positive outcome for 
the expansion of Fastrack and its role in the Garden City project. KCC would 
first agree their proposals for the Garden City project internally prior to 
presentation to EDC. Input from DBC and GBC would then be added to the bi-
lateral process with EDC. 

The Chairman thanked his KCC and Arriva guests for updating the Committee 
on the Fastrack provision to Dartford and the mooted expansion of the 
present Service to include the needs of the Garden City project. He also 
confirmed his intention to invite EDC’s interim CEO, Paul Spooner, to attend 
the Committee’s proceedings in the future, to update Members further 
following publication of EDC’s Master Transport Plan for the Garden City.
 



ONE-OFF INVESTIGATIONS / DRAW DOWNS

13 September 2016

Item 1: Cabinet report of 2 June 2016 - Local Scheme for Support of 
Council Tax

Members received an update from the Strategic Director (Internal Services) 
and Section 151 Officer, on the outcome of the public consultation exercise 
which had concluded earlier in September 2016, on the Council’s proposals to 
review its Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTRS) in liaison with other Kent 
authorities; as set out in the report to Cabinet of 2 June 2016.   

Members were advised that Cabinet had given the SD (IS) delegated 
authority to publish a consultation document detailing potential modifications 
to Dartford’s current approved Scheme together with a Customer Access 
Review (CAR) document, which had been placed on the Council’s website for 
public response .

Members were reminded of the background to the Government’s introduction 
of the Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTRS) together with detailed reasons 
for the proposed changes to the Council’s current approved local Scheme. 
Dartford (together with other Kent Districts) had worked with a consultant to 
produce amendments, prior to publication of the CTRS Consultation 
document and Customer Access Review (CAR) document, on the Council’s 
website. In addition, all working age claimants and all the Council’s registered 
social landlords had been written to on an individual basis and advised of the 
consultation exercise and proposed potential changes.  

Background & Detail:

 The Government’s Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTRS) replaced 
Council Tax Benefits in 2013;

 Pensioners were protected under the new Government arrangements 
which only affect working age claimants;

 Council’s set their own local Schemes for CTR within an overall central 
government funding envelope;

 Dartford had consulted other Kent Districts in formulating its local 
Scheme to ensure that it could be delivered within available 
Government  funding;

 The Council proposed that working age claimants paid at least 18.5% 
of their council tax bill, equating to an 18.5% reduction in maximum 
entitlement for working age applicants;



 Dartford as a District authority only retained 11% of council tax 
collected, with the 89% ‘balance’ accruing to its major preceptors - 
Kent County Council, Kent Fire & Rescue Service and Kent Police;

 The major preceptors (collectively) paid each Kent District authority  an 
administrative fee of £125K p.a. towards the cost of their local CTR 
Scheme under the terms of a 3 year agreement until March 2018;

 Dartford’s local CTR Scheme (in common with other Kent authorities) 
focussed on protection of the vulnerable and encouraged working age 
claimants [back] into employment;

 Despite a consistent fall in both working age and pensioner age 
claimants in Dartford since March 2013; corresponding reductions in 
the central government’s Revenue Support Grant (RSG) since March 
2013; had left insufficient Government funding to support Dartford’s 
current local CTR Scheme, which funded the cost of working age 
discounts by some £310K per annum. Reductions in Government grant 
funding were set to continue and the current local Scheme had to be 
reviewed to ensure that the Council continued to protect the most 
vulnerable claimants;

 Options to retain the current local Scheme were limited to either raising 
council tax or finding further savings from within other Council budgets: 
doing nothing was not an option - the current local Scheme had to be 
reviewed;

 Kent’s major preceptors were keen for District Council’s to reduce the 
cost of their existing local Schemes, but could not insist on particular 
provisions. They could however remove their administrative grant 
leaving District authorities to find further savings of £125K p.a. to 
replace the administrative grant. In the case of Dartford, such further 
savings would almost certainly require staffing reductions in the joint 
Revenue and Benefits team, with a resultant negative impact on 
council tax collection rates, placing the Council under even greater 
fiscal pressure.

Members were advised that the public response to the 12 week consultation 
exercise had been poor with only 82 of a possible 3,594 working age 
claimants replying. This made judgement of a majority view of working age 
claimants to the proposed changes difficult to establish. The consultation 
questionnaire had been simplified, but the poor response indicated that the 
document either remained too lengthy / complicated or, that the vast majority 
of Dartford claimants were simply not interested in responding. The poor 
public response mirrored an equally poor response to the previous 
consultation exercise for the current local Scheme, when working age 
claimants were asked to contribute for the first time. 

The Council assumed that it would be taking forward a mixture of the options 
proposed in the Questionnaire document, based on analysis of the responses 
received from working aged claimants, the majority of whom recognised that a 
new local Scheme was required primarily to provide support to the most 
vulnerable. Options available to the Council for change in a new local Scheme 
were:-



 Option 1: working age claimants to pay 20% of their council tax 
equating to a drop in their current discount from 81.5% to 80%: 49% of 
respondents opposed this option; 

 Option 2: remove the extra allowance to claimants that had at least 1 
dependent child living with them, to align the current Scheme with 
changes to Housing Benefits - a loss of £3.49 per week for affected 
households: 46% of respondents opposed this option;

 Option 3: reduce backdated claims for benefit from 6 down to 1 month:    
52% of respondents favoured this option;

 Option 4: set a minimum level of income for workers purporting to be 
self- employed (based on 12 months such activity) aimed at claimants 
who avoided demonstrating to Job Centres that they were actively 
seeking work [being self-employed]  then claimed benefit, due to low or 
little earned income from their self-employment activities: the minimum 
level of earnings to be set in line with the National Living Wage based 
on a 35 hour week: 39% of respondents opposed this option; 

 Option 5: reduction in the period a person could be absent from the 
U.K. and still claim a discount from 13 down to 4 weeks: 76% of 
respondents accepted this option;

 Option 6: reduce the capital limit for claiming a discount from £16K to 
£6K [a cross Kent measure]: 46% of Dartford respondents had 
opposed this measure; 

 Option 7: simplify the non-dependent deduction to a standard £10: 
44% of respondents opposed this option;

 Option 8: take account of Child Maintenance paid to a claimant or 
partner when assessing their income level and any subsequent 
discounted rate for council tax : KCC and 43% of Dartford respondents 
had expressed concerns over this proposal,  given that child 
maintenance was paid in support of a child and should not form part of 
a council tax reduction calculation;

 Option 9: include Child Benefit payments to claimants or partners in 
the calculation of a council tax reduction: KCC and 54% of Dartford 
respondents opposed this proposal, which was contra to KCC’s 
strategic objective of helping children and young people get the best 
start in life; 

 Option 10: restrict the maximum level of council tax reduction to the 
equivalent of a Band D property given that a claimant who lived in a 
larger property would receive fewer discounts: 42% of respondents 
favoured this option, KCC proposed a Band C level [based on average 
property value].

The Chairman expressed the view that whilst the public response had been 
poor, the Council’s current Customer Access Review (CAR) Questionnaire 
document required some revision to make it clearer for respondents. The 
revised document should take account of existing Department for Work and 
Pensions (DWP) evidence that a disproportionate number of females claimed 
Council Tax discounts because they were in lower income brackets than 
males claiming similar discounts. He also expressed concern that the 
Council’s proposed changes would impact disproportionately on disabled 
claimants in particular. A mixture of proposed Options was required: it was not 
a case of a straight choice between e.g. Option 1 and Option 2 and this 
should be made clear to respondents.



The Committee expressed concern that any Council proposals for a new local 
Scheme should not impact adversely on children in claimant households or 
single male parents; should make greater allowance for the disadvantaged 
circumstances of women and allow for a school fees element in the 
calculation of upper limits of Child Maintenance. The new Scheme should 
continue to target and meet resident need and recognise the requirement for 
a ‘start-up’ period for self-employed claimants. Allowance should also be 
made for cases of exceptional hardship (within an agreed timescale). The new 
agreed local Scheme should also contain an element of risk management, in 
case the major Kent preceptors withdrew their existing administrative support 
grant to Districts of £125K p.a.

The Strategic Director (Internal Services) confirmed for Members that the 
existing Customer Access Review (CAR) document would be subject to re-
modelling prior to re-submission to Cabinet. The contribution made by Kent’s 
major preceptors remained subject to regular review, given that they were 
under no obligation to pay the current annual administrative fee [£125K] to 
Districts. The Council, together with other Kent District authorities and the 
appointed consultant, would continue to liaise and to seek Kent-wide solutions 
for local Schemes of Support for Council Tax Reduction and apply those 
agreed solutions to the new Dartford model.

The Chairman and Members expressed their thanks to the SD (IS) for a very 
comprehensive update on the Council’s proposals for a new local Scheme for 
Council Tax Reduction.
  

15 November 2016

 Item 1: Ebbsfleet Garden City 

The Committee received a presentation from Mr Paul Spooner, interim CEO 
of the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation (EDC). Members were advised that 
the EDC had been established by Government to take forward the Ebbsfleet 
Garden City project to produce new homes, jobs and leisure opportunities for 
a new Garden City community and the existing Ebbsfleet population. 

Members were advised that as interim CEO, Mr Spooner was responsible for 
the oversight and delivery of the Garden City project by EDC, including the 
management of the £30M Government capital investment programme (CIP). 
He headed a project team of 28 staff with broad skills sets, including 9 staff 
dedicated to planning matters who worked closely with the Council’s own 
Planning Development team to ensure compliance with DBC’s planning and 
development policies. The CIP also included monies to re-invigorate the 
stalled site at Eastern Quarry, the provision of utility services for new 
developments (prior to construction of the Garden City), new cycle and 
pedestrian walkways linking the new Garden City to the established Ebbsfleet 
community and the development of a new Garden City Centre at Ebbsfleet 
International station. Proposed new housing developments would include 
elements of affordable and rented properties to meet the needs of the new 
Garden City residents and existing Ebbsfleet communities. 



Members were informed that EDC would also be developing common 
infrastructure themes with London Resort Company Holdings (LRCH) in their 
promotion of a new theme park to include business and local employment 
opportunities, for the Ebbsfleet area and the Swanscombe Peninsular as a 
whole.

Members received printed copies of EDC’s presentation entitled “Where 
London meets the Garden of England” which highlighted the key areas and 
aspects of the proposed Garden City development project:

 Scale – 15,000 homes, 7 neighbourhoods, 600,000m2 of employment 
space [equivalent to half the size of Canary Wharf];

 Sustainability – Green city with seven (7) new country parks and 
sustainable infrastructure;

 Opportunity – located in North Kent Enterprise Zone a Government 
priority, with commercial and industrial enterprises grown locally to 
improve jobs and leisure facilities allied to infrastructure improvement;

 Delivery –5 (five) house builders on site producing 600 starts in 2016 
[to November] a 6th housebuilder with ‘consent’ and 2 (two) further 
major residential schemes awaiting determination in the following 3 
months with the target of 5,100 completed homes by 2021 with up to 
30% affordable housing under existing DBC criteria;

 Partnership Working – Ebbsfleet was being delivered through 
partnership working with Kent, Gravesham and Dartford Councils, 
Government Agencies and local land owners and developers;

 Collaboration on Projects at Ebbsfleet 2016/17 – Co-investment 
with utility companies for early supply prior to the building phase and 
the long-term provision of a new electricity sub-station; MoU with 
landowners to develop the City Centre at Ebbsfleet International 
Station; ‘collaboration with Universities on a potential medical centre of 
excellence for training and research and separately with Darenth Valley 
Hospital for increased facilities under NHS auspices; Co-investment 
with developers of Eastern Quarry, Northfleet and Swanscombe; 

Fastrack

 Upgrade of entire programme;
 New dedicated routes and corridors;
 Key connections – Darent Valley Hospital, Dartford Town Centre, 

Bluewater, Gravesend Town Centre, Ebbsfleet International station, 
Riverfront;

 Ebbsfleet International Interchange with link to Bluewater;

Proposed Theme Park  

This was considered as a Nationally Significant Infrastructure Project with a 
planning application process to be considered by the Secretary of State, with 
EDC working closely with LRCH as promoters of the theme park;

Conclusions

 Garden City project had momentum;



 Housing, Place-making and Economic Growth;
 EDC facilitators, investors and planners;
 Collaboration with local authorities including Swanscombe & 

Greenhithe Town Council;
 Connected to the local communities through Open Days for residents;
 Working with KCC, Aviva and existing communities to develop and 

expand the existing Fastrack service.

Members participated in a Q&A session with the CEO and the Council’s 
Development Manager which confirmed the following principal points: 

 Finances to improve and expand the present Fastrack provision to 
Dartford and a dedicated line to Eastern Quarry would be raised 
through a joint Public / Private investment initiative;

 KCC was committed to an improvement of the current Fastrack rolling 
stock with the capital investment being recovered via an operator 
payback scheme based on increased passenger numbers from the 
Garden City project and the theme park development;

 A comprehensive Fastrack business case would be put to the 
Government in 2017 with Highways England taking forward 
improvements to the A2 Junction; 

 A business case to Government was proposed to extend Crossrail to 
Dartford, Ebbsfleet Garden City, Bexley and Gravesham at an 
estimated cost of £2.4 Billion.

The Committee re-visited specific topics of concern in further discussion with 
the CEO  including: EDC’s Master Transport Plan, its impact on Fastrack 
development and the allied issue of adequate provision residential parking in 
new housing developments; EDC’s plans for local employment as a priority 
through job creation and business development within the Garden City project 
and with LRCH as the developer of the proposed theme park in the 
Swanscombe Peninsular; increased provision of local services for the 
additional 15,000 new homes proposed and estimated 45,000 new Dartford 
residents to be accommodated.

The CEO confirmed for Members that EDC had no plan making powers 
themselves and that all aspects of the Garden City project were being taken 
forward within the Council’s planning policies.  Within that context, it was the 
role of EDC to exercise development control and ensure developers paid their 
full contribution to the proposed new works through their existing Section 106 
Agreements and as amended by the provisions of the new Housing Act when 
passed. The proposed housing construction would feature a good mix of 
properties, including affordable housing elements including rented properties. 

The Chairman thanked the CEO for providing Members with an excellent 
overview of the Garden City development project and for the candour and 
openness of his answers and accepted Mr Spooner’s offer to update the 
Committee further in 2017. 



7 February 2017

No topics were Draw-Down by the Committee for consideration.

25 April 2017

This scheduled meeting of the Committee (confirmed at Annual Council on 11 
May 2016) was in the event cancelled, following confirmation of the date for 
Kent County Council elections of 4 May 2017 and the resultant imposition of 
political ‘purdah’ in the 7  week period prior to polling day.

 



 

February 2016 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

1 

 
 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE PROTOCOL  
 
A ‘local government matter’ is defined as a matter which relates to the discharge of any function of the 
authority, affects all or part of the electoral area for which the Member is elected or any person who 
lives or works in that area and is not an ‘excluded matter’ 
 
  
Introduction This Protocol recognises the division of executive and non-executive roles 

and responsibilities, the scrutiny role performed by non-executive 
Councillors and the part played by all Councillors in representing local 
communities. 

 
  
Terms of Reference To contribute to improving Council services by holding decision makers to 

account which ultimately benefits residents of the Borough of Dartford. 
 

  
Guidelines (a) Terms of Reference agreed by the General Assembly of the  Council 

(the GAC); 
 (b) Standing Orders and Financial Regulations; 
 (c) Codes of Conduct; 
 (d) Secretary of State guidance issued from time to time. 

 
  
Committee 
accountability 

To the Council as the ultimate decision making body from which all of the 
other elements in the decision-making process derive their authority. 
 

  
Elected Member 
accountability 

Individual elected Members have a collective responsibility for the 
Council's functions.  This collective responsibility extends to a duty to 
ensure that the Council complies with the law and does not knowingly act 
unlawfully. 

 
  
Compliance 
principles 

The Committee will: 
 Scrutinise and monitor the performance of the Cabinet, Officers and 

partner authorities in implementing decisions in line with the 
Council’s Strategic and Policy Framework; 

  Recognise the legitimate right of the Cabinet to provide political and 
operational leadership to the Council and will not attempt to usurp 
the power vested in the Cabinet by the GAC; 

  Recognise that Officers continue to owe a duty to all Members of the 
Council; 

  Guarantee the right of Officers to express their advice on matters 
within their areas of responsibility, particularly (but not exclusively) 
on technical professional issues.  Officers must not be pressurised to 
change their advice to suit political aspirations.  Questions to Officers 
must be within Officers' remit and will as far as possible be confined 
to questions of fact and explanation relating to policies and decisions 
within Officers' remit; 

  Will not criticise or adversely comment on any individual Officer by 
name; 



 

February 2016 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

2 

  Not attempt to thwart the Cabinet by engaging in vexatious or 
unnecessarily repetitive overview and scrutiny activities. 

 
  
Membership Committee membership cannot include any Cabinet member. 
  

The Scrutiny Process  

In accordance with its Terms of Reference, the Committee can only discharge scrutiny functions relating o
any local government matter, but excluding crime and disorder/community safety functions. 

 
  
1.What may be 
scrutinised 

 

1.1 decisions made and/or actions taken in connection with the discharge of 
any of the Council’s and/or Cabinet’s functions; 
 

1.2 performance of the Cabinet, Officers, Committees, Boards and Panels 
whether generally or in relation to service plans and targets, or in relation 
to particular decisions, initiatives or projects; 
 
NB: scrutiny will not focus on day to day management and operational 
decisions, which are the proper concerns of Council managers and 
Officers. 
 

1.3 performance of the Council in relation to policy and budgetary objectives, 
performance targets and/or particular service areas; 
 

1.4 any matter which affects the Borough of Dartford and its inhabitants;  
 

 any matter relating to the planning, provision and operation of health 
services in the Borough of Dartford by a local health service body (i.e. 
NHS Foundation trust etc.); 
 

1.5 the planning, provision, operation and performance of other public 
bodies/organisations whose services affect the Borough; 
 

1.6 Councillor Calls for Action (CCfAs); 
 

1.7 local improvement targets.  
 

  



 

February 2016 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

3 

A.Draw downs Draw downs for the purposes of scrutinising decisions/actions of the 
Council, Cabinet etc. and/or the scrutiny/of the effects/outcomes of a 
decision post implementation 

 
A.1 For each meeting of the Committee: 

 
� through the Shadow Chairman of the Committee, up to three items in 

total for the Political Group on the Council forming the administration on 
the Council; 

 
 � through the Chairman of the Committee, up to three items in total for the 

Political Group on the Council forming the largest party in opposition on 
the Council; 

 
 � one item only for any other Political Groups on the Council, dealt with on 

a ‘first come first served basis’. 
 

A.2 Subject to section A.6 of this Protocol, each Committee meeting may draw 
down for scrutiny purposes, no more than seven items in total.  These 
seven items may comprise a combination of items relating respectively, to a 
Call-in, CCfA, the scrutiny of decision(s)/actions of the Cabinet/Officers, 
local improvement targets, local health service body etc.  Whatever 
combination is applied, the Committee is restricted to the scrutiny of seven 
items in total, per Committee meeting. 

 
A.3 (a) A draw down(s) must be on written notice to Member Services by no 

later than noon on the 16th day before a Committee meeting i.e. 16 
clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 24 hours running from 
midnight to midnight excluding bank and public holidays and the day 
on which the meeting is held). 

 
 (b) The need (if any) for participant representatives to appear before the 

Committee will be notified to Member Services by no later than noon 
on the 16th day before a Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear days' 
(sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 24 hours running from midnight to 
midnight excluding bank and public holidays and the day on which the 
meeting is held). 

 
A.4 Where the Committee wish to scrutinise an item for the purposes of 

examining the effect and outcomes of a decision/action etc. post 
implementation, drawing down the item may need to be delayed to a future 
date.  

 
 NB: The focus of the scrutiny in such circumstances will be concerned with 

the effects and outcomes of the decision whether or not reference was 
made to effects or outcomes (potential or perceived) in any 
background document before the Committee. 

 



 

February 2016 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

4 

  
A.5 When more than one Political Group on the Council notifies a draw down of 

the same item, the Political Group which first gave notice in accordance 
with section A.1 of this Protocol, will lead at the meeting, on the discussion 
of the item and the Chairman will exercise his/her discretion about the right 
of the Political Groups to sum up. 

 
A.6 Although Scrutiny Committee and the Policy Overview Committee have 

different roles and responsibilities, the remit of the Committees may on 
occasions overlap.  Whilst draw downs and work programmes will need to 
have flexibility and their own broader topics and focus, the Scrutiny 
Committee will avoid any duplication in work programme activities and draw 
downs. 

  

B. Requests for 
information 

 

B.1 Any Committee member may make requests for information, on written 
notice to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th day before 
the Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 periods 
of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public 
holidays and the day on which the meeting is held) and the following will 
apply.  The request for information will: 
 

  detail the item(s) to be drawn down, supported by reasons for the draw 
down(s); 

 
  the nature of the information requested e.g. a full report, background 

information, research, data, statistics, etc.; 
 

  if applicable, identify the need for participants (Members, Officers and/or 
other external participants) to appear before the Committee (refer to the 
general principles on participation detailed in section D of this Protocol); 

 
  provide an indication if at all possible, of the questions and the likely 

topics to be raised on the item(s); 
 

  provide an indication if at all possible, of whether the request for 
information is for the purposes of informing the debate or for the 
purposes of putting questions to participants. 

 
B.2 On receipt of a request for information, Member Services will notify the 

Managing Director and link officer of the partner organisation.  Where the 
request for information relates to a Cabinet decision/action, the Managing 
Director and the Cabinet Chairman will be notified accordingly.  
 

  



 

February 2016 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

5 

  
B.3 Where information requested is readily available and routinely collected, it 

will be provided within 14 days of receipt of the request, save that if some 
or all the information cannot reasonable be provided within the 14 day 
period, the information will be provided as soon as reasonably possible and 
in any event, no later than 7 clear days’ (seven weekdays i.e. 7 periods of 
24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public 
holidays and the day on which the meeting is held).   
 

B.4 Information will be depersonalised, unless the identification of an individual 
is necessary or appropriate in order to enable the Committee to properly 
exercise its powers or disclosure is permitted by or under the Data 
Protection Act 1998.   

B.5 Information will not include matters reasonably likely to prejudice legal 
proceedings or current or future operations of the Council, Cabinet etc. 
 

B.6 Information will not include matters reasonably likely to constitute a breach 
of confidence actionable by any person. 
 

B.7 Schedule 12A, Parts 1-3 of the Local Government Act 1972 as regards the 
categories of exempt information, reg.5 of the Local Authorities (Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees) (England) Regulations 2012, reg.26 of the Local 
Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health 
Scrutiny) Regulations 2013) and Standing Order 46(2) as regards 
confidential information, will apply to the proceedings of the Committee. 

B.8 The scrutiny of an item may need to be deferred pending the receipt of 
information, particularly where requests for additional information are made 
or where the information requested is voluminous and/or where there are 
costs implications associated with providing the information.  In these 
circumstances, Member Services will advise the Committee Chairman 
accordingly. 
 

B.9 To facilitate the scrutiny process, a partner authority (as defined in Chapter 
1 of Part 5 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 
2007 (as amended) is under a duty to pro-actively provide information to 
the Committee on request (reg.4 of the Local Authorities (Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees) (England) (Regulations 2012). 

C. Call-in of Cabinet 
decisions 

 

C.1 This Call-in procedure will be operated in such a way as not to have a 
concomitant negative effect on the efficiency of Cabinet decision-making. 
 
This Call-in procedure will only apply to Cabinet decisions/actions, subject 
to the restrictions/limitations detailed in sections C.8, C.9, C.11, C.13, C15 
and C.16 of this Protocol. 
 

C.2 (a) Call-in will be by five Members of the Committee (involving 
representation of at least two political groups), in writing, to Member 
Services by no later than noon on the day before the Cabinet meeting.  
Member Services will notify the Cabinet Chairman of the Call-in. 
 

 
 



 

February 2016 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

6 

 (b) Once a member of the Committee has signed a Call-in, he/she may 
not do so again until a period of six months has expired. 

 
C.3 A special meeting of the Committee may be called in accordance with the 

rules detailed in Standing Order 27 (Special Meetings of the Cabinet, 
Committees and Boards) and will be held before the next meeting of the 
Cabinet (Cabinet meetings are scheduled on a four weekly basis), with a 
view to reporting to the next Cabinet meeting. Where it is not possible for 
the Committee to report to the next Cabinet meeting, the Committee 
Chairman will consult with the Cabinet Chairman and agree a date for 
referring the Call-in back to the Cabinet for consideration/reconsideration. 
 
Referring the Call-in back to the Cabinet will not be delayed by more than 4 
weeks from the date of the notice of Call-in. 

 
C.4 Once a Call-in has been effected, the Cabinet may at its discretion, either: 

 
 (a) defer consideration of the proposed decision and/or action (the 

Deferred Decision) to its next scheduled meeting or where it is not 
possible for the Committee to report to the next scheduled meeting of 
the Cabinet, defer consideration until receipt of the Committee's report; 
or 

 (b) take the decision and/or action which decision/action will stand as 
suspended (the Suspended Decision) until the next scheduled meeting 
of the Cabinet or where the Call-in is referred to the GAC by the 
Committee, until referred back to the Cabinet by the GAC for 
reconsideration. 

 
C.5 Following consideration of the Call-in, the Committee will, on a report 

(setting out the Committee's concerns, recommendations, conclusions, 
suggestions and/or comments), either refer the Deferred 
Decision/Suspended Decision back to the Cabinet for 
consideration/reconsideration, or request a debate on the Call-in at the next 
ordinary meeting of the GAC, or if necessary, at an extraordinary meeting 
of the GAC, but subject to the rules detailed in Standing Order 1.(3) on the 
convening of extraordinary meetings. 

 
C.6 On receipt of the Committee's report; 

 
 (a) the Cabinet will consider/reconsider the Deferred Decision/ 

Suspended Decision and the contents of the Committee's report 
before coming to a final decision. Providing the Deferred 
Decision/Suspended Decision is not contrary to the budget or policy 
framework, the Cabinet may or may not amend the Deferred 
Decision/Suspended Decision before reaching a final decision and 
implementing it; or 

 (b) the GAC will consider the Call-in and may object to the Deferred 
Decision/Suspended Decision in which case the Deferred 
Decision/Suspended Decision will be referred back to the Cabinet 
(with the GAC's views) for consideration/reconsideration.  Unless the 
Deferred Decision/Suspended Decision is contrary to the budget or 
policy framework, the Cabinet may choose whether to amend the 
Deferred Decision/Suspended Decision or not before reaching a final 
decision and implementing it. 

 
 NB:  The GAC has no locus to make a decision in respect of a Cabinet 

decision unless the Cabinet decision is contrary to or not wholly 
consistent with the budget or policy framework agreed/adopted by the 
Council. 

 



 

February 2016 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

7 

  
C.7 Following the Cabinet's consideration of a Deferred Decision or 

reconsideration of a Suspended Decision, the decisions(s) will take effect 
i.e. be implemented immediately. In addition, a Suspended Decision will 
become effective: 

 
 (a) on the date of the GAC meeting where the Call-in has been referred to 

the GAC and the GAC does not object to the Suspended Decision 
and/or does not refer the Suspended Decision back to the Cabinet. 

 
 (b) on the date of the Committee meeting, where the Committee does not 

refer the Suspended Decision back to the Cabinet or to the GAC.  
 

C.8 A Call-in (i.e. the decision itself) cannot be the subject of further scrutiny 
after implementation, pursuant to the draw down mechanism detailed in 
section A of this Protocol. 

 
 NB: This restriction does not preclude a subsequent draw-down of the 

subject matter of the decision for purposes related for example, to 
topic scrutiny or reporting on matters of local concern. 

 
C.9 This Call-in procedure will not apply to urgent Cabinet decisions and/or 

action to be taken by the Cabinet which need to be implemented urgently.  
The definition of 'urgency' means any matter of immediate urgency (i.e. 
where any delay likely to be caused by the Call-in would prejudice the 
Council's or the public's interest), making the prompt exercise of the 
powers of the Cabinet, in consultation with the Managing Director and the 
Monitoring Officer/Chief Finance Officer desirable and/or necessary and 
which cannot await the next meeting of the Cabinet, or the next ordinary 
meeting of the GAC. 

 
 NB: The definition of 'urgency' as detailed above, excludes urgent key 

decisions under Standing Order 54(8) (Special Urgency) and urgent 
departure decisions under Standing Order 55(3) (Decisions outside 
the Budget or Policy Framework). 

 
C.10 Cabinet decisions and/or actions to be taken which are not subject to Call-

in will take effect, i.e. be implemented immediately. 
 

C.11 Subject to the draw down rules in section A.2 of this Protocol, the 
Committee may only Call-in two decisions per three-month period.   

 
C.12 Key decisions of Officers, area committees/joint arrangements (referred to 

in the Cabinet's Forward Plan) may be subject to individual Call-in in 
accordance with the procedure detailed in this Protocol. 

 
C.13 Call-in will not apply to urgent departure decisions (refer to Standing Order 

55(3)) and urgent key decisions (refer to Standing Order 54(8)). 
 

C.14 The rules detailed in sections B and D of this Protocol will apply to an 
individual Call-in. 

 
C.15 A CCfA does not provide an additional opportunity for a Cabinet decision to 

be challenged.  A previous Call-in will only be relevant, if the circumstances 
of the Call-in and the CCfA are clearly different.  
 

C.16 The operation of this Call-in procedure will be monitored annually by the 
Monitoring Officer and if necessary, a report submitted to the GAC with 
proposals for review. 

 



 

February 2016 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

8 

  

D.Participants  
D.1 The nature of a Call-in, the item to be drawn down or the nature of the topic 

under scrutiny will generally determine who participates in the proceedings 
of the Committee. 
 

D.2 Persons required to attend if summoned  
 
Subject to the rules on participation at section D.7 of this Protocol, the 
giving of 14 clear days’ notice, (fourteen weekdays i.e. 14 periods of 24 
hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public 
holidays and the day on which the meeting is held) and information being 
provided as to the nature and scope of the scrutiny: 
 

 Cabinet members and Council Officers 
 
Cabinet members and Council Officers may be required to attend 
Committee meetings, to give evidence, make representations and/or 
answer questions ((Section 21(13) Local Government Act 2000). 
 

  
 Health Service scrutiny 

 
The Committee may require the attendance of any member or employee of 
a Responsible Person at the meeting of the Committee to answer 
questions (reg.27 Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing 
Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013). 
 

D.3 
 

 

 

 

 

D.3A 
 

Members of the community and other organisations/stakeholders etc.  
 

Members of the community and other organisations/stakeholders etc. may 
be invited (but cannot be compelled) to attend the Committee, to make 
representations, answer questions or give evidence.  
 
Where the Committee seeks to engage with the third sector (voluntary and 
community groups), it will respect the principles of the Council’s Compact. 
 
Lead Members  
 
Subject to the rules detailed in section D.7(a) to (c) of this Protocol, Lead 
Members who are members of the Committee may be requested (but 
cannot be compelled) to make representations, answer questions or give 
evidence on their respective portfolios.  
 
 

D.4 Expert advisors and assessors  
 
The Committee may consider the available options for future direction in 
the development of policies and may appoint experts, advisors and 
assessors to assist the Committee in the process. 
 

D.5 Councillors who are not members of the Committee 
 

The rules detailed in Standing Order 36, will apply to the attendance at 
Committee meetings, of Councillors who are not members of the 
Committee. 

 
D.6 The scrutiny of an item may need to be deferred pending the availability of 

a participant to attend, when summoned or invited.  In these 
circumstances, Member Services will advise the Committee Chairman 



 

February 2016 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

9 

accordingly. 
 

D.7 Participation Rules 
 

(a) The nomination of specific Cabinet members and Lead Members as 
participants and any necessary substitutions, will be within the 
discretion of the Cabinet Chairman and, in relation to Officer 
participants, within the discretion of the Managing Director. 

 
(b) Subject to paras. (a) and (c) of this section D.7 and section V.6 of this 

Protocol, any Lead Member(s) may attend meetings of the Committee 
and with the consent of the Chairman, make representations, answer 
questions or give evidence on the subject matter of their relevant 
portfolio.  

 
(c) Lead Members who are members of the Committee cannot be 

involved in the scrutiny process of their relevant portfolio unless they 
are substituted on the Committee and in doing so, the Lead Member’s 
role is limited to making representations, answering questions or giving 
evidence on the subject matter. Once substituted, the Lead Member, 
as an ordinary member of the Committee, cannot vote at the meeting 
even if he/she is able to attend at a later stage of the meeting and can 
only speak with the permission of the Chairman. 

 
(d) The Managing Director may restrict the attendance of Council Officers 

to above a certain grade or in accordance with other criteria to ensure 
that junior Officers are not put under undue pressure.  This restriction 
is consistent with the European Convention on Human Rights. 

(e) The Chairman and Shadow Chairman (collectively), reserve the right 
(supported by detailed reasoning to the Cabinet Chairman or 
Managing Director (as appropriate)), to strongly request the 
attendance of a named Cabinet member(s), Lead Members, Council 
Officer(s), and representative of the Responsible Person or relevant 
body, as participants in the proceedings of the Committee, subject to 
written notice to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th 
day before the Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen 
weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 24 hours running from midnight to 
midnight excluding bank and public holidays and the day on which the 
meeting is held). 

(f) Council Officers who are subject to disciplinary proceedings and/or 
investigation will not be called as participants. 

(g) When questioning participants, due regard will be had to the 
Compliance Principles referred to in this Protocol and to paras.(f) and 
(g) below.  Participants may leave the meeting on the conclusion of 
their particular issues. 

(h) Participants may decline to answer questions in open session of the 
Committee on the grounds that the answer might disclose information 
that would be exempt or confidential under the access to information 
provisions.  In that event, the Committee may resolve to exclude the 
public and the press in accordance with Standing Orders in order that 
the question may be answered in private session. 

(i) Participants are not obliged to answer any question which they would 
be entitled to refuse to answer in a court of law for example any 
question relating to a participant’s past conduct/actions which could 
not be answered without acknowledging or referring to possible 



 

February 2016 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

10

inappropriate conduct/actions/inactions. 

(j) To better inform the Committee, participants may be required to 
provide their evidence in writing and may be questioned by the 
Committee on that evidence. 

 
  
 (k) The substance (rather than the detail) of oral evidence and participants' 

responses will be documented by the Committee Co - ordinator and 
circulated to them for comment, before the next meeting of the 
Committee. 

 
 (l) Participants may be asked to explain: 

 
 (i) what the policies are; 

 
 (ii) the justification and objectives of those policies; 

 
 (iii) the extent to which those objectives may have been met; 

 
  (iv) how administrative factors may have affected both the choice of the 

policy measures and the manner of their implementation. 
 

(m) Participants may be asked explain and justify; 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• advice they have given prior to decisions being taken; 
• decisions they themselves have taken under delegations from the 

Cabinet etc. 
 
NB: far as possible, Council Officers should avoid being drawn into 

discussions on the merits of alternative policies where this is 
politically contentious.  Any comment by Council Officers on the 
Cabinet's policies and actions should always be consistent with the 
requirement for Officers to be politically neutral. 

  



 

February 2016 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

11

  

E. Councillor Calls for 
Action (CCfA) 

 

E.1 Subject to the ‘excluded matters’ rule detailed in section E.2 and the 
restrictions detailed in sections E4, E5, E7 and E10 of this Protocol, any 
ward Member may refer to the Committee for scrutiny, any local 
government matter. 
 
The flowchart at Annex 1 describes the CCfA procedure. 

 
E.2 Excluded matters 

A CCfA cannot be championed in relation to matters associated with crime 
and disorder, licensing, planning, or a matter where there is already a 
statutory right of review or appeal (other than the right to complain to the 
Local Government Ombudsman), or a matter which is vexatious, 
discriminatory or not reasonable to be included on the agenda for, or to be 
discussed at, a meeting of the Committee (reg. 3. of the Overview and 
Scrutiny (Reference by Councillors) (Excluded Matters) (England) Order 
2012).  
 

E.3 A matter does not fall within a description of an ‘excluded matter’ if it 
consists of an allegation that a function for which the Council is responsible 
has not been discharged at all or that its discharge has failed or is failing on 
a systematic basis, notwithstanding the fact that the allegation specifies or 
refers to an excluded matter. 

 
E.4 Referral of a genuine, significant and persistent local community concern 

by the local ward Member as a CCfA for scrutiny is a measure of last 
resort, once other approaches for informal resolution have been exhausted.  
Local ward Members are advised to seek advice from the relevant Director 
before agreeing to champion a CCfA. 
 

E.5 The CCfA may be referred for scrutiny on behalf of a constituent, or on the 
local ward Member’s own initiative, providing the local ward Member has 
the support of the local community and the Member does not have a 
disclosable pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest in the matter.   
 



 

February 2016 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

12

E.6 The Committee may receive a CCfA via the Cabinet in circumstances 
where the local ward Member has declined to champion the CCfA and the 
constituent has then referred the issue to the Cabinet.  
 

E.7 Subject to the draw down rules at section A.2 of this Protocol, the referral of 
a CCfA to the Committee will be limited to one CCfA per meeting.   

 
E.8 The referral of a CCfA to the Committee by a local ward Member will be on 

written notification to Member Services, by no later than noon on the 16th 
day before a Committee meeting, i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 
16 periods of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank 
and public holidays and the day on which the meeting is held). 

 
E.9 The rules relating to provision of information and request for participant 

attendance, at sections B and D of this Protocol will apply.  
 

E.10 The acceptance of a CCfA will be at the discretion of the Committee.  In 
considering whether or not to accept a CCfA, the Committee may have 
regard to any representations made by the local ward Member as to why it 
would be appropriate for the Committee to accept the CCfA. 

 
E.11 If the Committee decides not to accept the CCfA, Member Services will 

within 5 days’ of the meeting, formally notify the ward Member of the 
Committee’s decision and the reasons for it.  The Committee’s decision is 
final.  There is no right of appeal. 

 
E.12 The local ward Member may address the Committee (but not vote) on the 

matter raised.   
 

E.13 Following consideration of a CCfA, the Committee may report or 
recommend accordingly to the GAC and/or the Cabinet, the Responsible 
Person, Kent County Council etc.  The rules detailed in sections H and M of 
this Protocol, will apply.   
 

E.14 The Committee may submit a copy of its report or recommendations to the 
local ward Member or await the GAC’s/Cabinet’s and/or other relevant 
body’s response before doing so.   
 

  

F. Committee member 
business 

Subject to the rules on draw down detailed in section A.2 of this Protocol, 
any Committee or (sub-committee) member has the legal right [Section 
21A(1) Local Government Act 2000] to place any matter relevant to the 
Committee’s functions on the agenda.  This right will be exercised by giving 
written notice to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th day 
before a Committee meeting i.e.16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 
periods of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and 
public holidays and the day on which the meeting is held).   
 
The rules relating to provision of information and request for participant 
attendance, at sections B and D of this Protocol, will apply.  
 

  



 

February 2016 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

13

G. The duty to have 
regard to reports/ 
recommendations 

 
 

G.1 
When reviewing a decision made but not implemented, the Committee 
may recommend that the decision be reconsidered by the body that made 
it.  

 

G.2 
The Committee may by notice require the Responsible Person to respond 
to its Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations within 28 days (or as soon 
as reasonably possible) of the date of the Scrutiny Report, indicating what 
(if any) action the body proposes to take (reg. 22(7) of the Local Authority 
(Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013.  The same principles shall be applied to Cabinet and the 
GAC. 
 

  

G.3 
Where the Committee’s recommendations have not been accepted by the 
body concerned, clear reasons will be given.  Where recommendations 
have been agreed, but expectations have not been met, the issue may be 
re-addressed fully by the Committee. 
 

  

H. Health Service 
Scrutiny 

 ‘Local Healthwatch organisation and ‘Local Healthwatch contractor 
have the meaning in sections 222 and 223 of the Local Government 
and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 (as amended); 

 ‘Referrer’ means a Local Healthwatch organisation or ‘Local 
Healthwatch contractor; 

 ‘Responsible Person’ means a NHS body or a relevant health service 
provider as defined in the National Health Service Act 2006. 

 
H.1 The Committee may scrutinise any matter relating to the planning, 

provision and operation of the health service in the Borough of Dartford 
(reg.21(1) Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and 
Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013). 
 



 

February 2016 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

14

H.2 When scrutinising the planning, provision and operation of the health 
service, the Committee must: 
 
 invite interested parties to comment (reg.21(2)(a) Local Authority (Public 

Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013); and 

 take account of relevant information available to it and in particular, 
relevant information provided by a Referrer (reg.21(2)(b) Local Authority 
(Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013). 

 
H.3 Where a matter is referred to the Committee by a Referrer, the Committee 

must acknowledge receipt of the referral within 20 working days beginning 
with the date on which the referral was made and keep the Referrer 
informed of any action taken in relation to the matter (reg.21(3) Local 
Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health 
Scrutiny) Regulations 2013). 
 

H.4 The Responsible Person must provide the Committee with such information 
as the Committee may reasonably require (reg.26 Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013). 
 

H.5 Subject to reasonable notice in accordance with section D.2 of this Protocol 
of this Protocol, the Committee may require the attendance of any member 
or employee of a Responsible Person at the meeting of the Committee to 
answer questions (reg.27 Local Authority (Public Health, Health and 
Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013). 

H.6 The Committee may make reports and recommendations to a Responsible 
Person on any matter it has reviewed (reg.22(1) Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013). 
 
Reports and recommendations must under reg.22(6) of the Local Authority 
(Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013 include: 
(a) an explanation of the matter reviewed; 
(b) a list of participants involved in the review; and 
(c) an explanation of any recommendations on the matter reviewed. 

H.7 Where the Committee requests a response from the Responsible Person, 
the Responsible Person must respond in writing within 28 days of the 
request (reg.22(7) Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing 
Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013). 

H.8 Other than in circumstances where there is a risk to the safety or welfare of 
patients or staff, a Responsible Person is required to consult with the 
Committee on any proposal for a substantial development or variation to 
the health service in the Borough of Dartford (reg.23 Local Authority 
(Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013). 

 



 

February 2016 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

15

 
H.9 The Committee may comment on the Responsible Person’s proposal by 

the date specified by the Responsible Person (reg.23(4) Local Authority 
(Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013). 
 

H.10 In addition to commenting, the Committee may recommend accordingly to 
the Responsible Person in accordance with section J.6 of this Protocol.  
Where the Responsible Person disagrees with the Committee’s 
recommendation, the Responsible Person must notify the Committee and 
the Committee and the Responsible Person must take such reasonable 
steps to try to reach agreement on the recommendation (reg.23(5) Local 
Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health 
Scrutiny) Regulations 2013). 
 

H11 Where the Committee is not satisfied that the Responsible Person has 
adequately consulted or the reasons given by it are not adequate, subject 
to complying with regs. 23(7), (8), (10) & (11) of the Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013, the Committee may report to the Secretary of State, who may direct 
accordingly (regs.23(9) and 25 Local Authority (Public Health, Health and 
Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013.   
 

J. Work programme 
 

J.1 
The Committee will be responsible for setting its own work programme and 
in doing so, will take into account wishes of Committee members who are 
not members of the largest political group on the Council. 
 

J.2 
Duplication of activities or major additions to the Committee’s work 
programme will be avoided. 
 

J.3 The Committee will receive an annual report on its workings and may make 
recommendations for future work programmes. 
 

  

K. Appointment of 
independent experts, 
advisers/assessors 

 

K.1 
Subject to available resources and GAC authority, the Committee may 
invite independent experts, advisers and assessors to contribute to the 
overview and scrutiny process undertaken by it, its sub-committees or task 
groups.  Independent experts, advisers and assessors will have no voting 
rights and will not count for the purposes of establishing a quorum. 
 

K.2 The criteria for selection will be; 
 
(a) candidates must be able to demonstrate to the Chairman an expert 

knowledge of the subject in question; 
(b) candidates will have no contact with the Borough Council, which could 

be seen as prejudicial to their independence; 
(c) candidates will not be employees of the Council, a person/organisation 

contracted to provide services on behalf of the Council or an 
employee, officer or member of the Kent County Council or the 
Responsible Person. 

 



 

February 2016 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

16

  
K.3 Independent experts, advisers and assessors will be expected to comply 

with the principles in the [Member] Code of Conduct, including the 
requirement to declare interests and respecting confidentiality. 
 

K.4 Independent experts, advisers and assessors will receive payment in 
accordance with a standard scale of fees, to be agreed by the Cabinet, plus 
travel and other reasonable/legitimate expenses. 
 

K.5 Independent experts, advisers and assessors may at the Committee’s 
discretion, remain in the meeting room when confidential and/or exempt 
information is being discussed. 
 

K.6 In considering independent experts’, advisers’ and assessors’ 
recommendations, the Committee will have regard to the advice of the 
Council's Statutory Officers (Chief Finance Officer/Section 151 Officer and 
Monitoring Officer) who are legally bound respectively, to report to the GAC 
on inter alia: 

  the corporate approach of the Council; 
 contravention of law and/or Standing Orders, Financial Regulations; 
 unlawfulness, maladministration or injustice; 
 vires and propriety of expenditure; 
 overall integrity of the budget, capital and revenue and the fiduciary duty 

and responsibility of all Members (Section 112 and 114 Reports). 
 
NB: The GAC retains the ultimate responsibility of censure. 
 

  
L. Scrutiny reports  
and//or 
recommendations 

 

L.1 All comments, conclusions and recommendations to the Responsible 
Person, GAC and/or Cabinet (referred to in this part of the Protocol as the 
‘relevant body’ will be accompanied by a Scrutiny Report prepared by the 
Committee Co-ordinator, in consultation with the appropriate Officer and 
the Committee Chairman under the existing rules for the preparation of 
committee reports. 
 

L.2 The Scrutiny Report will include: 
(a) an explanation of the matter scrutinised; 
(b) a summary of the evidence considered; 
(c) a list of the participants involved in the scrutiny exercise; 
(d) any recommendations on the matter scrutinised, including where 

applicable, an indication of the costs associated with implementing the 
recommendations; 

(e) a summary of the views of Members dissenting from the majority 
recommendation(s); 

(f)  the mechanism for monitoring progress in implementing the 
recommendation(s). 

 



 

February 2016 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

17

  
L.3 All motions (whether passed, rejected, opposed etc.) by the Committee will 

be detailed in the Scrutiny Report. 
 

L.4 The Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations will be published and sent to 
the link officer of the relevant body. 
 

L.5 Where requested by the Committee, a ‘relevant body’ is under an  
obligation in accordance with section H of this Protocol to consider the 
Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations and respond to the Committee 
within 28 days (or as soon as reasonably possible) of the date of the 
Scrutiny Report, indicating what (if any) action the body proposes to take.  
 

L.6 The Committee Chairman, may at the request of the ‘relevant body’, attend 
its meeting and present the Scrutiny Report and answer questions. 
 

L.7 If in disagreement with the decision of the Committee, any Councillor(s) 
who expresses a minority view, may through the Committee Chairman, 
refer a 'minority view' report to the ‘relevant body’ for consideration and 
provided they do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest or prejudicial 
interest in the matter under discussion, the Councillor may be requested to 
attend the body’s meeting and present their views and answer questions.   
 

L.8 If at all possible, Scrutiny Reports and/or recommendations should be 
included on the agenda of the next available meeting of the ‘relevant body’ 
unless the matter which is the subject of the Scrutiny Report and/or 
recommendations is scheduled to be considered by the ‘relevant body’ 
within a period of four weeks from the date the Committee issues the 
Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations.  In such circumstances, the 
Committee's Scrutiny Report/recommendations will be considered by the 
‘relevant body’ in the context of their deliberations on the substantive item 
on the body’s agenda. 
 

L.9 Only one Scrutiny Report per meeting of the ‘relevant body’ may be 
submitted by the Committee for consideration. 
 

L.10 Following receipt of the ‘relevant body’s’ response, the Committee may, by 
motion, move 'that the matter be referred back to the [named] ‘relevant 
body' either 'for further information' or 'for further consideration' or as the 
case may be, with an instruction that some specified action be taken or that 
the Committee considers that no further action is necessary. 
 

  
L.11 Scrutiny Reports and/or recommendations to the GAC will be copied to the 

Cabinet Chairman.  The GAC will not consider a Scrutiny Report and/or 
recommendations until the Cabinet has had the opportunity to comment. 
 

L.12 Local ward Members and other non - executive Councillors will have the 
opportunity at GAC meetings, to raise issues either through questions, 
motions or through policy and other debates.  
 

  



 

February 2016 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

18

M. Cabinet Key  
Decisions 

Where the Cabinet has decided not to include a particular decision in a 
Regulation 9 Notice, but the Committee believes that it should have been 
included, the Committee may require the Cabinet to make a report on the 
decision to the GAC in accordance with Standing Order 54(9).  The 
Committee's consideration of any such matter will be in public, but subject 
to the rules on confidential and exempt information. 
 

  

N. Monitoring Officer 
reports  

The Committee may consider whether it would be appropriate, following 
receipt of a Monitoring Officer report to the Cabinet (and copied to all 
Members of the Council), to hold a short enquiry into the matter which is 
the subject of the report prior to the Cabinet's consideration of it and to 
recommend accordingly to the Cabinet. 
 

  

P. Consideration of  
items at meetings 

 

P.1 Without prejudice to the rules detailed in Standing Orders on the 
consideration of urgent items, items will not be considered at a meeting of 
the Committee unless included on the agenda for the meeting.  The order 
of business will be as set out in Standing Order 58(10)(a)(i) to and 
including (iii) and the business as otherwise set out in the agenda in 
accordance with Standing Order 58(10)(a)(iv) will be in the order of: 
 

  Call – in; 
 

  decisions and/or actions of the Council, Cabinet and Officers; local 
health service body, Kent County Council; 

 
  local improvement targets; 

 
  MAA economic strategy action plans; 

 
  Draw downs; 

 
  CCfA; 

 
  Key Decisions; 

 
  any other local government matter related to the Council’s/Cabinet’s 

functions; 
 

  Officer decisions pursuant to Standing Order 38 (Delegation of Urgent 
and Routine Matters); 

 
  Minority member business; 

 
  Scrutiny Committee member business; 

 
  Monitoring progress of agreed actions; 

 
  Members’ Information Bulletin.  

 



 

February 2016 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

19

Q.2 The order of business may be altered by the Committee in accordance with 
the rules detailed in Standing Order 58(10)(b). 
 

Q.3 Cabinet decisions and Officer decisions under Standing Order 38 
(Delegation of Urgent and Routine Matters) and under the Scheme of 
Delegations to Officers, cannot be reversed or amended. 
 

Q.4 Voting Committee members have a right of access to exempt or 
confidential information considered by the Cabinet, but only if it is relevant 
to an issue(s) before the Committee (Standing Order 51(4)). 
 

Q.5 In exercising its powers, the Committee must respect, support and not 
compromise the duties and responsibilities of other Committees, Boards 
and Panels of the Council. If a scrutiny investigation reveals potential 
disciplinary and probity issues, the Committee will refer the matter to the 
Managing Director. 
 

Q.6 Litigation proceedings by or against the Council must not be prejudiced by 
any scrutiny investigation.  In the circumstances, it may be necessary to 
defer further consideration of the matter until the proceedings have been 
dispensed with. 
 

Q.7 Consultation undertaken by the Committee in accordance with its Terms of 
Reference will not compromise/prejudice consultations undertaken by any 
other Committee/Board of the Council.  
 

  

R. Conduct of  
meetings 

  
 

R.1 Meetings will be open to the public and the press unless confidential and/or 
exempt information is being considered.  The Access to Information 
Procedure Rules detailed in Standing Orders will apply. 
 

R.2 The access to information provisions relating to access to and inspection of 
agenda and connected reports and minutes as detailed in Standing Orders 
will apply. 
 

R.3 Minutes will be drawn up and recorded in accordance with the rules 
detailed in Standing Order 15. 
 

S. Task groups/ 
informal Member  
working group 

 

S.1 Task groups (or informal Member working groups) may be appointed at 
any time by the Committee to examine specific issues in detail.  Task 
groups will be time limited and will tend to work more flexibly and 
informally. 
 

S.2 The Committee may appoint any of its Members to work informally with 
other bodies or authorities etc., particularly in relation to external or cross-
authority scrutiny matters, where this will contribute to the Committee’s 
functions. 
 



 

February 2016 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

20

S.3 Whilst a task group cannot substitute for the Committee or exercise the 
formal powers associated respectively with overview and scrutiny (which is 
the preserve of the Committee and its sub-committees), the task group 
may contribute to or inform the overview or scrutiny process. 
 

S.4 Task groups will be made up of no less than 3 Committee members. The 
political balance rules need not apply. 
 

S.5 Because of the relative informality of task group meetings, and the 
evidence gathering nature of much of the discussion, chairing the meetings 
will involve different skills from those required by traditional committee 
meetings.  The task group Chairman will need to be sure that all task group 
members are clear about the purpose of the meeting and are given the 
opportunity to pursue a line of questioning – via a number of 
supplementary questions if necessary. 
 

S.6 The task group may obtain information through different media, including 
face-to-face interviews; questionnaires; focus groups; site visits; reports; 
and written submissions from participants. 

 
S.7 Participants will be offered the opportunity to comment on the accuracy of 

the record of their attendance.  
 

S.8 Once the evidence is taken, the Committee Co-ordinator will draft a report 
and recommendations to reflect the preliminary views of the task group.  
The draft report and recommendations will be agreed by the task group 
Chairman before it is circulated to the Cabinet Chairman and the Strategic 
Director for comment. 
 

S.9 The Committee will consider the task group’s report and/or 
recommendations and any comments from the Cabinet Chairman and/or 
Managing Director. 
 

S.10 The Committee will refer the task group’s report and/or recommendations 
to the relevant body i.e. Kent County Council, Responsible Person, GAC 
and/or Cabinet with a note of the debate and any changes arising from the 
debate. 
 

S.11 The Committee may refer the issue back to the task group for further 
consideration. 
 

T. Sub-committees  
T.1 The Committee may appoint sub-committees in accordance with the rules 

detailed in Standing Order 58(1)(4) and may delegate any of its functions 
to its sub-committees. 

 
T.2 Sub-committees may exercise the formal powers associated respectively 

with the scrutiny function. 
 

  
 



 

February 2016 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

21

U. Monitoring agreed 
actions 

 

U.1 Agreed actions will form the basis against which performance of the 
Council, Cabinet etc. will be measured.  Progress against action plans will 
be monitored through Covalent [the Council’s performance management 
system] and reported to the Committee annually. 
 

U.2 Where the Committee’s recommendations have not been accepted by the 
body concerned, clear reasons will be given.  Where recommendations 
have been agreed, but expectations have not been met, the issue may be 
re-addressed fully by the Committee. 
 

  
V. Declarations of  
interest 

 

V.1 Elected Councillors and voting co-optees are subject to the [Member] Code 
of Conduct. 
 

V.2 Representatives from the responsible authorities, co-operating body and 
other partner organisations are subject to their respective professional 
codes of conduct.  
 

V.3 Participants who are not bound by codes of conduct will be subject to the 
Nolan principles of transparency and accountability. 
 

V.4 All participants (including Council Officers) summoned or invited to attend 
Committee meetings, will declare any interests and the nature of the 
interests at the beginning of the meeting or as soon as the interests 
become apparent to them.  
 

V.5 No Committee members may be involved in scrutinising a decision in 
which they have been directly involved. 

V.6 With the exception of Cabinet members who are required to attend the 
Committee to give evidence in accordance with section D of this Protocol, 
any Member at the meeting (not restricted to members of the Committee) 
with a disclosable pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest in a matter, may 
not take part in the discussion or remain in the meeting room or public 
gallery to observe the vote on the matter. 
 

  



 

February 2016 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

22

W. Regulatory bodies  
W.1 The Council discharges a number of regulatory functions such as 

development control, licensing and other quasi-judicial functions, which 
cannot be the responsibility of the Cabinet. 
 

W.2 The Committee will not scrutinise individual decisions made by the 
Committees, Boards and Panels entrusted to discharge the Council’s 
regulatory functions (the Regulatory Bodies).  Scrutiny of decisions of 
Regulatory Bodies is clearly not an alternative to normal appeals 
procedures.  However, the Committee may make reports and/or 
recommendations to the GAC relating to the discharge of any Regulatory 
Body’s functions. 
 

W.3 Scrutiny of the discharge of a Regulatory Body’s functions will be restricted 
to one per Committee meeting on notice by the Committee Chairman and 
the Shadow Chairman.  The rules detailed in section A. of this Protocol will 
apply.  
 

  

X. Review of this 
Protocol 

This Protocol will be reviewed on an annual basis or more frequently, if 
experience, circumstances and legislation highlight that amendments are 
required. 
 

  

 



 

February 2016 
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol  

23

           ANNEX 1 
 

COUNCILLOR CALL FOR ACTION (CCfA) FLOWCHART 
 
CCfA request – local residents have concerns about significant and persistent problems in their area – they approach the local ward 
Member - local ward Member may also on their initiative, initiate a CCfA and gather support from their local community 

 
 
First level response 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
Second level response 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Third level response 
 
 
 
  
 
 
Fourth level response 
 
  
  
 
 
 
  
 
 
Fifth level response 
 
 
  
 
 

In consultation with relevant Director, local ward Member considers 
whether to agree to champion or reject the CCfA - Log request 

Concern not resolved – as last resort, concern referred to 
Scrutiny Committee   

Scrutiny Committee rejects CCFA (see 
Committee’s Protocol for procedure) Scrutiny Committee accepts CCfA and considers 

issue in accordance with Committee’s Protocol 

Scrutiny Committee compiles report and 
recommendations to Cabinet/GAC, local health 
service body, KCC etc. (refer to Committee’s 
Protocol) 

Local ward Member notified 
with written reasons 

Cabinet/GAC, NHS body and KCC etc. consider 
recommendations and respond within 2 months, 
setting out reasons for any inaction 

Scrutiny Committee considers and publishes 
responses to scrutiny recommendations Feedback to local ward Member  

Before agreeing, Director to 
undertake screening/filter 
checks (section 6 of Guide) 

Refuse to champion  and 
provide constituent/local ward 
Member with written reasons for 
refusal 

 

Agree to champion 

First attempt to resolve the concerns informally in consultation 
with relevant parties e.g. Lead Member, CDRP etc. (section 
11 of Guide) – Log attempt to resolve Concern resolved  





Appendix C

[APPENDIX J(i)]
D A R T F O R D   B O R O U G H   C O U N C I L

ANNUAL MEETING
10 May 2017

STANDING COMMITTEES, BOARDS AND PANELS
OF THE COUNCIL

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
[REPORTING TO COUNCIL unless otherwise stated in these Terms of 
Reference]

Chairman: Councillor J S Hawkes
Vice-Chairman: Councillor M J Davis
Membership: Councillors A Bardoe, J Burrell, R M Currans, P Cutler, 

J A Hayes, S R Jarnell, M B Kelly, C S McLean, 
M A Maddison, T A Maddison, J A Ozog, J M Ozog, D J 
Reynolds, A S Sandhu MBE and Mrs R F Storey.

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
[REPORTING TO COUNCIL unless otherwise stated in these Terms of Reference]

TERMS OF REFERENCE:
DELEGATED FUNCTIONS:

1. To perform the scrutiny functions on behalf of the Council within the guidelines detailed 
in the Committee's Protocol;

2. To submit reports to the Council on the following;

(a) any Cabinet decision which is likely to give rise to expenditure or savings above such 
thresholds as agreed by the Council;

(b) matters of local concern which are not the responsibility of the Council but which 
nevertheless affect the Borough and/or its inhabitants;

(c) a Cabinet decision which is likely to have a significant impact on two or more Wards;

(d) a non-urgent departure decision(s) which is;

(i) a Cabinet decision(s) (not yet implemented) which is contrary to the policy 
framework/budget;

(ii) a Cabinet decision(s) (which has been implemented) and which is considered to 
be contrary to the policy framework/budget).

NB: The Council has no locus to make a decision in respect of a Cabinet decision 
unless the Cabinet decision is contrary to or not wholly consistent with the 
budget or policy framework approved/adopted by the Council. 

3. To appoint in accordance with Standing Order 58(4) such sub-committee(s) as the 
Committee considers appropriate to fulfil the scrutiny functions of the Committee.



Appendix C

4. To hold the Cabinet to account for the discharge of its executive functions by scrutinising 
decisions proposed and/or action to be taken in accordance with the Call-in mechanism 
detailed in the Committee's Protocol.

5. To hold the Cabinet to account for the discharge of its executive functions by scrutinising 
decisions after implementation i.e. post decision scrutiny, in accordance with the 
Committee's Protocol for the following purposes only:

(a) to seek more understanding of the decision and its implications;

(b) to question the soundness of the decision;

(c) to identify the need for Council policies to guide delegated decisions;

(d) to examine the effect and outcomes of the decision e.g. enquire into grants 
awarded by the Cabinet to voluntary organisations in the Borough to see how 
effectively expenditure has been targeted;

(e) to make recommendations, including proposals for changes to policies or practices, 
to the Cabinet.

NB: A decision(s) may only be scrutinised once.

6. To scrutinise the discharge of any other functions of the Council in accordance with the 
mechanism(s) detailed in the Committee's Protocol.

7. To report to the Cabinet and/or the Council in accordance with the Committee’s Protocol 
on matters of local concern.

8. To seek comments from other Committees/Boards in order to obtain a balanced view of 
the effects of Council policy and Cabinet decisions.

9. Where appropriate, and as part of the community consultation process, to seek input 
from Councillors (including Members of the Cabinet), Officers, other interested 
stakeholders and organisations and by drawing on the knowledge of constituents’ views.

10. To receive finalised documents relating to a key decision(s) in the Cabinet's forward 
plan.

11. To scrutinise Cabinet forward plans with a view to deciding which, if any, of the 
forthcoming Cabinet decisions the Committee wishes to enquire into.

12. To report annually to the Council on the work of the Committee.

13. To consider Monitoring Officer reports about lawfulness or maladministration, which 
relate to Cabinet functions and consider whether to hold a short enquiry into the matter 
the subject of the report prior to the Cabinet's consideration of it.

14. To approve an annual scrutiny work programme in accordance with Standing Order 
58(8) including the programme of any sub-committee appointed by the Committee to 
ensure that there is efficient use of the Committee's (sub-committee's) time and that the 
potential for duplication of effort is minimised.



Appendix C

15. Health Scrutiny Functions

To scrutinise any matter relating to the planning, provision and operation of the health 
service in the Borough of Dartford, in accordance with the Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013.

16. Discussion/Consultation Papers

To respond to discussion/consultation papers relating to matters connected/associated 
with the functions of the Committee (i.e. scrutiny) in accordance with the procedure set 
out in the Appendix to these Terms of Reference.

17. Councillor Calls for Action

To consider any local government matter relevant to the Council’s functions (other than 
crime and disorder) referred to the Committee by a local ward Member, under the 
Councillor Call for Action provisions in the Committee’s Protocol. 

NB: the matter must be a genuine, significant and persistent community concern referred 
to the Committee as a last resort, because the usual channels for raising the concern 
e.g. Council Officers, Cabinet, partner organisations etc. have been unsuccessful.  





SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
23 May 2017

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 2017-18

1. Summary

To identify items for inclusion in the Committee’s Work Programme for the 
2017–18 municipal year and allocate a timeframe accordingly.

2. RECOMMENDATION

That the Committee agrees the proposed standard items as set out in the draft 
Work Plan (attached at Appendix A to the report) and identifies further topics for 
inclusion in the Work Programme for 2017-18 as appropriate.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 The Scrutiny Committee’s Terms of Reference make provision for the 
Committee to approve an Annual Scrutiny Work Programme.

3.2 The Committee is responsible for setting its own Work Programme   
and in doing so, the Committee will take into account the minority 
interest views held by Members on the Committee.

3.3 The programme should ensure that there is efficient use of the 
Committee’s time and that the potential for duplication of effort is 
minimised, especially with regard to the remits of the Crime and 
Disorder (Overview & Scrutiny) and the Policy Overview Committees.

3.4 In considering whether a particular topic or function should be 
included in the Scrutiny Committee’s Work Programme, Members 
need to be mindful of the following:

(1) that the primary role of the Committee is to scrutinise 
decisions of the Cabinet that have either been taken or which are 
included in the Regulation 9 Notices for future consideration by 
Cabinet;

(2) that although the nature of the scrutiny will generally decide 
who participates in the discussion, inviting participation by other 
councils to give their experiences is not a scrutiny function, but 
one for the Policy Overview Committee, which undertakes the 
overview function to better inform future policy options;

(3) that discussions on policy statements fall to the Policy 
Overview Committee, with the overview function, not the Scrutiny 
Committee; and 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
23 May 2017

(4) that matters relating to crime and disorder, including anti-
social behaviour (ASB) and Community Safety, fall within the 
remit of the Crime and Disorder (Overview & Scrutiny) 
Committee.

3.5 Members are asked to suggest possible topics / areas for inclusion in 
the Committee’s Work Programme for 2017-18 as set out in the draft 
Work Plan at Appendix A. The Plan will be reviewed at each meeting 
during the forthcoming municipal cycle to allow new items to be added 
or the timing of existing items altered. The Work Plan will be 
supplemented through the established Draw-Down process.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not applicable.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None
Legal Implications None
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Appendices

Appendix A: draft Scrutiny Committee Work Plan 2017-18

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date File 
Ref

Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

2016-17 WP
Mins. of Meets
2016-17

May 2017 David Hook
Member Services 
(01322 343276)

Member 
Services 
MD

N/A



Appendix A 

Draft SCRUTINY WORK PLAN 2017-18

23 May 2017 11 July 2017 14 November 2017 6 February 2018 17 April 2018

Princes Park 
Annual Update 

and Forward Plan

Update: Dartford 
Cricket Club, 
Hesketh Park

Orchard Theatre 
Annual Report 

2016-17

Orchard Theatre 
Accounts 2016-17 

Financial Year

Princes Park 
Annual Update

Refurbishment of 
Fairfield Pool & 
Leisure Centre 

[D/D]

Draw-Down(s) – 
t.b.a.

Draw-Down(s) – 
t.b.a.

Draw-Down(s) – 
t.b.a.

Draw-Down(s) – 
t.b.a.

Scrutiny 
Committee Annual 

Report 2016-17

Garden City Master 
Transport Plan – 

KCC/EDC Update 
(tbc)

Review Work Plan
2017-18

Review 2017-18 
Work Plan

Consider Work 
Plan for 2018-19

Draft Work Plan 
2017-18

Review Work Plan
2017-18

Reg. 9 Notice Reg. 9 Notice Reg.9 Notice

Reg. 9 Notice Reg. 9 Notice




	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of the Minutes of the meeting held on 7 February 2017
	7 Regulation 9 Notice
	8 Princes Park  - Annual Update
	Item 8 Appendix A PPannualreport201617_v1

	9 Refurbishment of Fairfield Pool and Leisure Centre [Draw-Down]
	Appendix A Item 9 Scrutiny Committee 23 May 2017 - Fairfield Yearly Report to March 2017

	10 Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2016-17
	Appendix A - DH.final.edit.AT.SM.SG.comments.Scrutiny Committee DRAFT Annual Report 2016-17
	Appendix B - Scrutiny Committee Protocol February 2016
	Appendix C 2016-17 A.R. ScrutinyTORs (2)

	11 Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2017-18
	Appendix A draft ScrutinyWorkPlan207-18


